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Notes to the Financial 
Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1. General
 The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.  The 

address of its principal place of business and registered office is 1 HarbourFront Avenue #18-01, Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 
098632.

 The Company’s principal activity is that of an investment holding and management company.

 The principal activities of the companies in the Group consist of:

- offshore oil-rig construction, shipbuilding & shiprepair and conversion;
- environmental engineering, power generation, logistics and data centres; 
- property development & investment and property fund management; and
- investments.

 There has been no significant change in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year.

 The financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and the balance sheet and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company at 31 December 2015 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors on 24 February 2016.

2. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of Preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and 

Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 Adoption of New and Revised Standards
 In the current year, the Group adopted the new/revised FRS that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2015. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional 
provisions in the respective FRS.

 The following are the new or amended FRS that are relevant to the Group:

 Amendments to FRS 19 (2011) Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
 Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (January 2014)
 Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (February 2014)

 The adoption of the above new or amended FRS did not have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group.

(b) Basis of Consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 

structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 

- Has power over the investee;
- Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
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 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting 
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including: 

- The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders;

- Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability 

to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings. 

 The financial statements of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included or excluded from the 
consolidated financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition or disposal.  All intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of 
the Group.

 Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method.  The cost of an acquisition is measured at the 
aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of 
exchange and the fair values of any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary.  Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the profit and loss account as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interests, except for deferred tax assets/liabilities, share-
based related accounts and assets held for sale.  

 Any excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill.  Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised in the profit and 
loss account on the date of acquisition.

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.  
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the difference between 
the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interests and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

 When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all 
assets (including any goodwill), liabilities and non-controlling interests at their carrying amounts. Amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that former subsidiary are reclassified to the profit and loss account 
or transferred directly to revenue reserves if required by a specific Standard. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is 
recognised at its fair value at the date control is lost, with the gain or loss arising recognised in the profit and loss account.

 On a transaction-by-transaction basis, the measurement of non-controlling interests is either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

 Contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date; subsequent adjustments to the consideration are 
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from better information about the fair value at the acquisition 
date, and they occur within the ‘measurement period’ (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date). All other 
subsequent adjustments are recognised in the profit and loss account.

 Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to 
the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the owners of the Company. They are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this 
result in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Fixed Assets
 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.  When the carrying amount of 

an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount.  Profits or losses on 
disposal of fixed assets are included in the profit and loss account.

 Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their estimated 
useful lives.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land and capital work-in-progress.  The estimated useful lives of other 
fixed assets are as follows:

 Buildings on freehold land 20 to 50 years
 Leasehold land & buildings Over period of lease (ranging from 15 to 80 years)
 Vessels & floating docks 10 to 20 years
 Plant, machinery & equipment 5 to 30 years
 Furniture, fittings & office equipment 2 to 10 years
 Cranes 5 to 30 years
 Small equipment and tools 2 to 20 years

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

(d) Investment Properties
 Investment properties comprise completed properties and properties under construction or re-development held to earn 

rental and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured 
at fair value, determined annually based on valuations by independent professional valuers.  Changes in fair value are 
recognised in the profit and loss account.

 On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised 
in the profit and loss account.

(e) Subsidiaries
 A subsidiary is an entity (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 

the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. 

 Investment in subsidiary is stated in the financial statements of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
On disposal of a subsidiary, the difference between net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the investment is taken to 
profit or loss.

(f) Associated Companies
 An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary, over which the Group has significant influence, but not control.

 Investments in associated companies are stated in the Company’s financial statements at cost less any impairment losses.  
On disposal of an associated company, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
investment is taken to the profit and loss account.

 Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method 
of accounting less impairment loss, if any. The Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associated company is included in the consolidated profit and loss account and other comprehensive income respectively. 
The Group’s share of net assets of the associated company is included in the consolidated balance sheet.

 Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the associated company recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill.  The goodwill 
is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.  Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of 
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.



149Group Overview   /   Operating & Financial Review   /   Governance & Sustainability   /   Financial Statements   /   Other Information

(g) Intangibles
 Goodwill
 Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Goodwill is initially recognised as 
an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any impairment losses.  If the Group’s interest in the fair value of 
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess 
is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account as a bargain purchase gain.

 Management Rights
 Management rights acquired is initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses. The useful life of the management rights is estimated to be indefinite because management believes there is no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which the management rights is expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group.

 Other Intangible Assets
 Intangible assets include development expenditure and customer contracts.  Costs incurred which are expected to generate 

future economic benefits are recognised as intangibles and amortised on a straight line basis over their useful lives, ranging 
from 3 to 17 years.

(h) Investments
 Investments are classified as held for trading or available-for-sale.  Investments acquired for the purpose of selling in the 

short term are classified as held for trading.  Other investments held by the Group are classified as available-for-sale.

 Investments are recognised and derecognised on the trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a 
contract whose terms required delivery of investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned.

 Investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except for investments held for trading, which are 
recognised at fair value. For unquoted equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured using alternative 
valuation methods, they are carried at cost less any impairment loss.

 For investments held for trading, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in the profit and loss 
account.

 For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the profit and loss account.

 The fair value of investments that are traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.  
The quoted market price is the current bid prices.  The fair value of investments that are not traded in an active market is 
determined using valuation techniques.  Such techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions, reference to the 
underlying net asset value of the investee companies and discounted cash flow analysis.

(i) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
 Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured at fair value.  Derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when the fair value is positive 
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

 Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are taken to the profit and loss account.

 For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gains or losses on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the profit and loss account.  Amounts taken to other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction affects the profit and 
loss account.

 The fair value of forward foreign currency contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet 
date.  The fair value of High Sulphur Fuel Oil (“HSFO”) and Dated Brent forward contracts is determined using forward HSFO 
and Dated Brent prices provided by the Group’s key counterparty.  The fair value of interest rate caps and interest rate swaps 
are based on valuations provided by the Group’s bankers.

Directors’ Statement & Financial Statements - Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j) Financial Assets
 Financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade, intercompany and other receivables and investments.  Trade, 

intercompany and other receivables are stated initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and bank 
deposits and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when the Company 
and the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available today rather than being 
contingent on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business 
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

(k) Stocks & Work-in-Progress
 Stocks, consumable materials and supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, cost being principally 

determined on the weighted average method.

 Work-in-progress is stated at the lower of cost (comprising direct labour, material costs, direct expenses and an appropriate 
allocation of production overheads) and net realisable value, which is arrived at after providing for anticipated losses, if any, 
when the possibility of loss is ascertained.

 Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost includes cost of land 
and construction, related overhead expenditure, financing charges and other net costs incurred during the period of 
construction.

 Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost includes cost of land and construction, 
related overheads expenditure, and financing charges incurred during the period of development.  Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in selling the property.  Upon completion of construction, 
they are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

 Each property under development is accounted for as a separate project.  Where a project comprises more than one 
component or phase with a separate temporary occupation permit, each component or phase is treated as a separate 
project, and interest and other net costs are apportioned accordingly.

 Progress claims made against work-in-progress are offset against the cost of work-in-progress and the profits recognised 
on partly completed long-term contracts less any provision required to reduce cost to estimated realisable value.

(l) Impairment of Assets
 Financial Assets
 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 

financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists.

 Loans and receivables
 Significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that the 

financial assets are impaired. The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account 
and the loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.  When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount is 
written off against the allowance account.  If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be objectively measured, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying 
amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in the prior periods.  The amount of reversal 
is recognised in the profit and loss account.

 Investments
 Significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is considered in determining whether the 

investment is impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured 
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in the profit and loss account - is removed from equity and recognised in the profit and loss account.  
For available-for-sale investments, impairment losses previously recognised in the profit and loss account are not reversed 
through the profit and loss account until the investment is disposed of.
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 Goodwill
 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired.  Goodwill 

included in the carrying amount of an associated company is tested for impairment as part of the investment.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination.

 An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account when the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, 
including goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.  The impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and then, to reduce the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis.  An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent 
period.

 Other Non-Financial Assets
 Tangible and intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these 

assets may be impaired.

 Management rights are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the management rights 
may be impaired.  

 For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the 
value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets.  If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

 If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of an asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount.  The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as 
impairment loss in the profit and loss account.  An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  
The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  
A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in the profit and loss account.

(m) Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments
 Financial liabilities include trade, intercompany and other payables, bank loans and overdrafts.  Trade, intercompany 

and other payables are stated initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.  Interest-bearing bank loans 
and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Interest expense 
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 
liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(n) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be 
made.

 Provision for warranties is set up upon completion of a contract to cover the estimated liability which may arise during the 
warranty period.  This provision is based on service history.  Any surplus of provision will be written back at the end of the 
warranty period while additional provisions where necessary are made when known.  These liabilities are expected to be 
incurred over the applicable warranty periods.

 Provision for claims is made for the estimated cost of all claims notified but not settled at the balance sheet date, less 
recoveries, using the information available at the time.  Provision is also made for claims incurred but not reported at the 
balance sheet date based on historical claims experience, modified for variations in expected future settlement.  The 
utilisation of provisions is dependent on the timing of claims.

Directors’ Statement & Financial Statements - Notes to the Financial Statements



152 Keppel Corporation Limited   Report to Shareholders 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Leases
 When a group company is the lessee
 Finance leases
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the lessee.  Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair values at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

 Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the profit and loss account.  
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

 Operating leases
 Leases of assets in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets by 

the lessor are classified as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentive received from 
lessor) are taken to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  When an operating 
lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

 When a group company is the lessor
 Finance leases
 Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in 

the leases.  Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

 Operating leases
 Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties and are stated at fair values.  Rental income 

(net of any incentive given to lessee) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(p) Assets classified as held for sale
 Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 

through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly 
probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be 
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date 
of classification.

 When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that 
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will 
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

 Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

(q) Revenue
 Revenue consists of:

- Revenue recognised on contracts, under the completion of construction method;
- Revenue recognised on contracts, under the percentage of completion method when the outcome of the contract can 

be estimated reliably;
- Invoiced value of goods and services;
- Rental income from investment properties; and
- Investment income, interest and fee income.
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 Revenue recognition
 Revenue from rigbuildings, shipbuildings and repairs, and long term engineering contracts is recognised based on the 

percentage of completion method in proportion to the stage of completion and provided the outcome of such work can be 
reliably estimated.  The percentage of completion is measured by reference to the percentage of the physical proportion of 
the contract work completed as determined by engineers’ estimates.  Where applicable, anticipated losses on contracts in 
progress are recognised in the profit and loss account.

 Revenue recognition on partly completed properties, which are held for sale is based on the following methods:

- For Singapore trading properties under progressive payment scheme, revenue and profit are recognised on the 
percentage-of-completion method to reflect the continuous transfer of significant risks and rewards of the ownership 
of the properties to the purchasers as construction progresses. The percentage of work completion is measured 
based on the construction and related costs incurred to date as a proportion of the estimated total construction and 
related costs;

- For Singapore trading projects under deferred payment scheme and overseas trading properties, profit recognition is 
recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchasers under the completion of 
construction method; and

- Where a project comprises more than one component or phase with a separate temporary occupation permit, each 
component or phase is treated as a separate project.

 When losses are expected, they are recognised in full in the accounts after adequate allowance has been made for 
estimated costs to completion including cost of discontinuance and salvage cost.  Any expenditure incurred on abortive 
projects is written off in the profit and loss account.

 Revenue from the sale of products is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:
- The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
- The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold;
- The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
- It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
- The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

 Sales are stated net of goods and services tax and sales returns.

 Revenue from the rendering of services including electricity supply and logistic services is recognised over the period in 
which the services are rendered, by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual 
services provided as a proportion of the total services to be performed.

 Rental income from operating leases on investment properties are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment is established, and in the case of fixed 
interest bearing investments, on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(r) Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing costs incurred to finance the development of properties and acquisition of fixed assets are capitalised during the 

period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.  Other borrowing costs are taken to the 
profit and loss account over the period of borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

(s) Employee Benefits
 Defined Contribution Plan
 The Group makes contributions to pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations.  In 

particular, the Singapore companies make contributions to the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a defined contribution 
pension scheme.  Contributions to pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service 
is performed.

Directors’ Statement & Financial Statements - Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

 Employee Leave Entitlement
 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the 

estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

 Share Option Scheme and Share Plans
 The Group operates share-based compensation plans.  The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for 

the grant of options, restricted shares and performance shares is recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account 
with a corresponding increase in the share option and share plan reserve over the vesting period.  The total amount to 
be recognised over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair values of the options, restricted shares and 
performance shares granted on the respective dates of grant.

 At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become 
exercisable and share plan awards that are expected to vest on the vesting dates, and recognises the impact of the revision 
of the estimates in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option and share plan reserve 
over the remaining vesting period.

 No expense is recognised for options or share plan awards that do not ultimately vest, except for options or share plan 
awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the 
market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

 The proceeds received from the exercise of options are credited to share capital when the options are exercised. When share 
plan awards are released, the share plan reserve is transferred to share capital if new shares are issued.

(t) Income Taxes
 Current income tax is recognised at the amounts expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax 

rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

 Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for deductible/taxable temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts.  The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation, 
valuation of investment properties, unremitted offshore income and future tax benefits from certain provisions not allowed 
for tax purposes until a later period.  Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.  Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profit and loss account, except when they relate to 
items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where they arise 
from the initial accounting for a business combination.  In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into 
account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

(u) Foreign Currencies
 Functional Currency
 Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects the 

economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (“functional currency”).

 The financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company are 
presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.
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 Foreign Currency Transactions
 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at exchange 
rates approximating those ruling at that date. Exchange differences arising from translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities are taken to the profit and loss account. Exchange differences on non-monetary items such as investments 
held for trading are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.  Exchange differences on non-monetary items are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Foreign Currency Translation
 For inclusion in the Group’s financial statements, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and associated companies 

that are in functional currencies other than Singapore Dollars are translated into Singapore Dollars at the exchange 
rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Profit or loss of foreign subsidiaries and associated companies are translated into 
Singapore Dollars using the average exchange rates for the financial year.  Exchange differences due to such currency 
translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.  Goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as non-monetary foreign currency assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree and recorded at the closing exchange rate.

 Disposal or partial disposal of a foreign operation
 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 

involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity 
that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of 
the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. 
Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are 
not reclassified to profit or loss. 

 In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate 
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit 
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing 
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to 
profit or loss.

(v) Share Capital
 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares are 

deducted against the share capital account.

 When shares are reacquired by the Company, the amount of consideration paid is recognised directly in equity. Reacquired 
shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are 
subsequently sold or reissued, the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury shares account and the realised gain 
or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs, is recognised in non-distributable 
capital reserve. Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them 
respectively.

(w) Segment Reporting
 The Group has four reportable segments, namely Offshore & Marine, Property, Infrastructure and Investments. Management 

monitors the results of each of these operating segments for the purpose of making decisions on resource allocation and 
performance assessment.

(x) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

(i) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the management is of the opinion that there is no instance 

of application of judgements which is expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, apart from those involving estimations and as follows:

 Control over Keppel REIT
 The Group has approximately 46% (2014: approximately 45%) gross ownership interest of units in Keppel REIT as 

at 31 December 2015. Keppel REIT is managed by Keppel REIT Management Limited (“KRML”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Group. The Group has provided an undertaking to the trustee of Keppel REIT to grant the other 
unitholders the right to endorse or re-endorse the appointment of directors of KRML at the annual general meetings of 
Keppel REIT. The Group has determined that it continues to have significant influence over Keppel REIT.

Directors’ Statement & Financial Statements - Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

 Control over KrisEnergy
 The Group has approximately 40% (2014: approximately 31%) gross ownership interest of shares in KrisEnergy 

Limited (“KrisEnergy”) as at 31 December 2015. The management assessed whether or not the Group has control over 
KrisEnergy based on whether it has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of KrisEnergy. In exercising 
its judgement, management considers the relative size and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by the other 
shareholders. Taking into consideration the approximately 38% (2014: approximately 45%) interest held by another 
single shareholder of KrisEnergy, management concluded that the Group does not have sufficient dominant vesting 
interest to exert control over KrisEnergy and therefore continues to have significant influence over KrisEnergy.

 
(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date 

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are as follows:

 Impairment of loans and receivables
 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a loan and receivable 

is impaired.  The Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.  When there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount 
and timing of future cash flows are estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics.  The carrying amounts of trade, intercompany and other receivables are disclosed in the balance 
sheet. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has credit risk exposure to an external group of companies for receivables 
that are past due. Management has considered any changes in the credit quality of the debtors, the possibility of 
discontinuance of the projects and the cost incurred to-date when determining the allowance for doubtful receivables 
and its expected loss. Management performs on-going assessments on the ability of its debtors to repay the amounts 
owing to the Group. These assessments include the review of the customers’ credit-standing and the possibility of 
discontinuance of the projects. Management has assessed that no allowance for doubtful debt and expected loss is 
required.

 Impairment of available-for-sale investments
 The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining whether available-for-sale investments are considered 

impaired.  The Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is less than its cost, the financial health of and the near-term business outlook of the investee, including factors such 
as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.  The fair values 
of available-for-sale investments are disclosed in the balance sheet.

 Impairment of non-financial assets
 Determining whether the carrying value of a non-financial asset is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use 

of the cash-generating units.  This requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected from the cash-
generating units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows.  The 
carrying amounts of fixed assets, investments in subsidiaries, investment in associates and joint ventures, investment 
properties and intangibles are disclosed in the balance sheet.

 Revenue recognition and contract cost
 The Group recognises contract revenue and contract cost based on the percentage of completion method. The stage 

of completion is measured in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(q).  Significant assumptions are 
required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the contract cost incurred, the estimated total contract 
revenue and contract cost and the recoverability of the contracts.  In making the assumption, the Group evaluates by 
relying on past experience and the work of engineers.  Revenue from construction contracts is disclosed in Note 23 
and an expected loss of $228,000,000 (2014: Nil) was recognised in 2015 based on the estimated costs to completion 
including cost of discontinuance and salvage cost with regards to certain rig building contracts.

 Revenue arising from additional claims and variation orders, whether billed or unbilled, is recognised when 
negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claims or 
approve the variation orders, and the amount that it is probable will be accepted by the customer can be measured 
reliably.
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 Income taxes
 The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.  Significant assumptions are required in 

determining the provision for income taxes.  There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The Group recognises liabilities for expected 
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.  The carrying amounts of taxation and deferred taxation 
are disclosed in the balance sheet.

 Claims, litigations and reviews
 The Group entered into various contracts with third parties in its ordinary course of business and is exposed to the risk 

of claims, litigations, latent defects or review from the contractual parties and/or government agencies.  These can 
arise for various reasons, including change in scope of work, delay and disputes, defective specifications or routine 
checks etc.  The scope, enforceability and validity of any claim, litigation or review may be highly uncertain.  In making 
its judgement as to whether it is probable that any such claim, litigation or review will result in a liability and whether 
any such liability can be measured reliably, management relies on past experience and the opinion of legal and 
technical expertise.

3. Share capital

  Group and Company

  Number of Ordinary Shares (“Shares”)
  Issued Share Capital Treasury Shares

   2015 2014 2015 2014

 Balance at 1 January 1,817,768,227 1,807,970,459 5,932,000 -
 Issue of shares under the share option scheme 139,900 4,936,211 - -
 Issue of shares under KCL PSP - 636,100 - -
 Issue of shares under KCL RSP 2,053 4,225,457 - -
 Treasury shares transferred pursuant to 
  share option scheme - - (1,388,230) -
 Treasury shares transferred pursuant to KCL PSP - - (323,400) -
 Treasury shares transferred pursuant to KCL RSP - - (4,265,390) -
 Treasury shares purchased - - 6,808,000 5,932,000
 Balance at 31 December 1,817,910,180 1,817,768,227 6,762,980 5,932,000

  Amount (S$’000)
  Issued Share Capital Treasury Shares

   2015 2014 2015 2014

 Balance at 1 January 1,287,595 1,205,877 48,665 -
 Issue of shares under the share option scheme 779 34,315 - -
 Issue of shares under KCL PSP - 5,418 - -
 Issue of shares under KCL RSP 20 41,985 - -
 Treasury shares transferred pursuant to 
  share option scheme - - (11,396) -
 Treasury shares transferred pursuant to KCL PSP - - (2,653) -
 Treasury shares transferred pursuant to KCL RSP - - (34,972) -
 Treasury shares purchased - - 49,367 48,665
 Balance at 31 December 1,288,394 1,287,595 49,011 48,665

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends declared by the 
Company.

 During the financial year, the Company issued 139,900 (2014: 4,936,211) Shares at an average weighted price of $5.57 (2014: 
$6.95) per Share for cash upon exercise of options under the KCL Share Option Scheme.

 During the financial year, 323,400 (2014: 636,100) Shares under the KCL Performance Share Plan (“KCL PSP”) and 4,267,443 
(2014: 4,225,457) Shares under the KCL Restricted Share Plan (“KCL RSP”) were vested.
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 During the financial year, the Company transferred 5,977,020 (2014: nil) treasury shares to employees under vesting of shares 
released under the KCL Share Option Scheme and KCL Share Plans. The Company also purchased 6,808,000 (2014: 5,932,000) 
treasury shares in the Company in the open market during the financial year. The total amount paid was $49,367,000 (2014: 
$48,665,000). Except for the transfer, there was no other sale, disposal, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares during the 
financial year.

 KCL Share Option Scheme
 The KCL Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”), which has been approved by the shareholders of the Company, is administered by the 

Remuneration Committee whose members are:

 Danny Teoh 
 Lee Boon Yang
 Oon Kum Loon (Mrs)
 Tow Heng Tan

 At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 23 April 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved the adoption 
of two new share plans, with effect from the date of termination of the Scheme.  The Scheme was terminated on 30 June 2010.  
Options granted and outstanding prior to the termination will continue to be valid and subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Scheme.

 Under the Scheme, an option may, except in certain special circumstances, be exercised at any time after two years but no later 
than the expiry date.  The two-year vesting period is intended to encourage employees to take a longer-term view of the Company.

 The Shares under option may be exercised in full or in respect of 100 Shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the 
subscription price.  The subscription price is based on the average last done prices for the Shares of the Company on the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the three market days preceding the date of offer.  The Remuneration Committee may at 
its discretion fix the subscription price at a discount not exceeding 20 percent to the above price.  None of the options offered in 
2010 was granted at a discount.

 To promote transparency, the Board of Directors had in 2002 resolved that the date of offer of share options under the Scheme 
shall be a pre-determined date; that is, the date falling 14 days immediately after the date of announcement of the Company’s 
half-year or full-year results, as the case may be.  The number of Shares available under the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the 
issued share capital of the Company.

 The employees to whom the options have been granted do not have the right to participate by virtue of the options in a share issue 
of any other company.

 Movements in the number of share options and their weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

  2015 2014

    Weighted  Weighted
    average  average
   Number of exercise Number of exercise
   options price options price

 Balance at 1 January 19,570,504 $8.60 24,832,315 $8.30
 Exercised (1,528,130) $5.82 (4,936,211) $6.95
 Cancelled (220,900) $11.04 (325,600) $11.17
 Balance at 31 December 17,821,474 $8.81 19,570,504 $8.60

 Exercisable at 31 December 17,821,474 $8.81 19,570,504 $8.60

 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for options exercised during the financial year was $8.87 (2014: $10.52). 
The options outstanding at the end of the financial year had a weighted average exercise price of $8.81 (2014: $8.60) and a 
weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.3 years (2014: 3.4 years).
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 KCL Share Plans
 The KCL Restricted Share Plan (“KCL RSP”) and KCL Performance Share Plan (“KCL PSP”) were approved by the Company’s 

shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company on 23 April 2010.  The two share plans are administered by the 
Remuneration Committee.

 Details of the KCL RSP and the KCL PSP are as follows:

  KCL RSP KCL PSP

 Plan Description Award of fully-paid ordinary shares of the  Award of fully-paid ordinary shares of
  Company, conditional on achievement of the Company, conditional on achievement of
  pre-determined targets at the end of a pre-determined targets over a three-year
  one-year performance period performance period

 Performance Conditions Return on Equity a) Economic Value Added
   b) Absolute Total Shareholder’s Return 
   c) Relative Total Shareholder’s Return to
    MSCI Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Industrials 
    Index (MXAPJIN)

 Final Award 0% or 100% of the contingent award 0% to 150% of the contingent award granted,
  granted, depending on achievement of  depending on achievement of pre-determined
  pre-determined targets targets 

 Vesting Condition  If pre-determined targets are achieved, If pre-determined targets are achieved,
 and Schedule awards will vest equally over three years awards will vest at the end of the three-year
  subject to fulfilment of service requirements performance period subject to fulfilment of
   service requirements

 Movements in the number of shares under the KCL RSP and the KCL PSP are as follows:

  2015 2014

  KCL RSP KCL PSP KCL RSP KCL PSP

 Contingent awards
 Balance at 1 January 4,639,784 1,748,725 4,383,491 1,901,333
 Granted 5,652,889 920,000 4,750,386 577,400
 Adjustments upon released - (240,406) - (26,450)
 Released (4,585,541) (376,200) (4,309,301) (636,100)
 Cancelled (185,649) - (184,792) (67,458)
 Balance at 31 December 5,521,483 2,052,119 4,639,784 1,748,725

 Awards released but not vested:
 Balance at 1 January 3,993,440 - 4,040,616 -
 Released 4,585,541 376,200 4,309,301 636,100
 Vested (4,267,443) (323,400) (4,225,457) (636,100)
 Cancelled (118,413) - (131,020) -
 Other adjustments - (52,800) - -
 Balance at 31 December 4,193,125 - 3,993,440 -

 Executive Directors who are eligible for the KCL Share Plans are required to hold a minimum number of shares under the share 
ownership guideline which requires them to maintain a beneficial ownership stake in the Company, thus further aligning their 
interests with shareholders.

 As at 31 December 2015, there were 4,193,125 (2014: 3,993,440) restricted shares that were released but not vested. At the end 
of the financial year, the number of contingent Shares granted but not released was 5,521,483 (2014: 4,639,784) under the KCL 
RSP and 2,052,119 (2014: 1,748,725) under the KCL PSP. Depending on the achievement of pre-determined performance targets, 
the actual number of Shares to be released could be zero or a maximum of 5,521,483 under the KCL RSP and range from zero to a 
maximum of 3,078,179 under the KCL PSP.
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 The fair values of the contingent award of shares under the KCL RSP and the KCL PSP are determined at the grant date using 
Monte Carlo simulation method which involves projection of future outcomes using statistical distributions of key random 
variables including share price and volatility.

 On 31 March 2015 (2014: 31 March 2014), the Company granted contingent awards of 4,863,286 (2014: 4,750,386) shares under 
the KCL RSP and 700,000 (2014: 577,400) shares under the KCL PSP.  The estimated fair value of the shares granted amounts 
to $8.29 (2014: $10.31) under the KCL RSP and $4.72 (2014: $6.74) under the KCL PSP. On 30 July 2015, the Company granted 
contingent awards of 789,603 (2014: nil) shares under the KCL RSP and 220,000 (2014: nil) shares under the KCL PSP.  The 
estimated fair value of the shares granted amounts to $7.14 (2014: nil) under the KCL RSP and $3.04 (2014: nil) under the KCL PSP. 
The significant inputs into the model are as follows: 

  2015 2015

   KCL RSP KCL PSP KCL RSP KCL PSP

 Date of grant 31.03.2015 31.03.2015 30.07.2015 30.07.2015
 Prevailing share price at date of grant $9.00 $9.00 $7.80 $7.80
 Expected volatility:
  Company 14.21% 14.21% 12.70% 12.70%
  MXAPJIN # 12.35% # 12.15%
 Correlation with MXAPJIN # 63.8% # 48.10%
 Expected term 0.92 - 2.92 years 2.92 years 0.58 - 2.58 years 2.58 years
 Risk free rate 1.12% - 1.52% 1.52% 0.85% - 1.31% 1.31%
 Expected dividend yield * * * *
   
  2014

   KCL RSP KCL PSP

 Date of grant 31.03.2014 31.03.2014
 Prevailing share price at date of grant $10.89 $10.89
 Expected volatility:
  Company 24.65% 24.65%
  MXAPJIN # 22.45%
 Correlation with MXAPJIN # 88.80%
 Expected term 0.75 - 2.75 years 2.75 years
 Risk free rate 0.35% - 0.70% 0.70%
 Expected dividend yield * *
       

# This input is not required for the valuation of shares granted under the KCL RSP.
* Expected dividend yield is based on management’s forecast.

 The expected volatilities are based on the historical volatilities of the Company’s share price and the MXAPJIN price over the 
previous 36 months immediately preceding the grant date.  The expected term used in the model is based on the grant date and 
the end of the performance period. 

 Share option schemes and share plans of subsidiaries

(a) Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd (“Keppel T&T”)
 Details of share plans granted by Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd are disclosed in its annual report.

(b) Keppel Land Limited (“Keppel Land”)
 Keppel Land Limited was delisted from the Official List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited on 16 July 

2015 following the completion of the voluntary unconditional cash offer (the “Offer”) and subsequent exercise under Section 
215(3) of the Companies Act (Chapter 50 of Singapore) for shares in Keppel Land Limited by Keppel Corporation Limited. As 
at the close of the Offer, all outstanding share options granted under the Keppel Land Share Option Scheme were tendered 
in acceptance of the options proposal made by Keppel Corporation Limited and subsequently cancelled. In connection with 
the delisting, it has been determined by the Remuneration Committee of Keppel Land Limited that all outstanding awards 
under the Keppel Land Restricted Share Plan and Keppel Land Performance Share Plan will, subject to the fulfilment of the 
vesting conditions, be settled by cash payments as permitted under the rules of the aforementioned share plans. 
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4. Reserves

 Group Company

   2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Capital Reserves
  Share option and share plan reserve 215,979 212,764 194,972 191,294
  Fair value reserve 73,049 102,818 - -
  Hedging reserve (790,756) (516,050) - -
  Bonus issue by subsidiaries 40,000 40,000 - -
  Others 78,188 71,133 4,741 -
   (383,540) (89,335) 199,713 191,294
 Revenue Reserves 10,379,320 9,422,754 5,408,710 4,400,277
 Foreign Exchange
  Translation Account (139,502) (191,587) - -
   9,856,278 9,141,832 5,608,423 4,591,571

 Movements in the Group’s and the Company’s reserves are set out in the Statements of Changes in Equity.

5. Non-controlling interests

 The Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are as follows:

  NCI percentage of
  ownership interest and   Profit after tax
  voting interest Carrying amount of NCI allocated to NCI

   2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Beijing Aether Property Development 
  Limited 49% 49% 215,634 203,768 5,336 10,936
 Keppel Telecommunications & 
  Transportation Limited 20% 20% 146,907 142,529 18,155 48,830
 Keppel Land Limited 1% 45% 59,486 3,474,948 10,165  341,567 
 Other individually immaterial subsidiaries   408,171  525,634  34,687  140,119 

 Total   830,198  4,346,879 68,343  541,452 

 Summarised financial information before inter-group elimination

    Beijing Aether Property Keppel Telecommunications &
  Keppel Land Limited Development Limited Transportation Limited

   2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Non-current assets 6,599,959 4,817,660 948,489 876,082 1,228,775 992,705
 Current assets 8,257,426 9,709,888 2,662 1,077 270,792 410,259
 Non-current liabilities 3,945,646 3,384,532  132,324 126,803 202,303 183,109
 Current liabilities 2,279,143  2,998,078 378,808 334,503 472,742 427,294
 Net assets 8,632,596 8,144,938 440,019 415,853 824,522 792,561

 Revenue 1,598,260 1,497,177  - - 200,566 224,563
 Profit for the year 560,701  823,238 10,889 22,318 105,986 308,189
 Total comprehensive income 749,084  959,895 12,591 23,495 112,671 317,276

 Net cash flow from/(used in) operations 495,565 200,443 (1,939) (1,489) 49,988 84,581

 Dividends paid to NCI 20,728 190,248 - - 18,689 64,686
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 During the financial year, the Group acquired additional interest in certain subsidiaries of the Company from its non-controlling 
interests. The following summarises the effect of the change in the Group’s ownership interest on the equity attributable to owners 
of the Company:

  2015 2014
  $’000 $’000

 Amounts paid on changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries (3,227,301) (9,600)
 Non-controlling interest acquired 3,530,670 5,736
 Others 125 5
 Total amount recognised in equity reserves 303,494 (3,859)

6. Fixed assets

       Plant,
    Freehold Leasehold  Machinery, Capital
    Land & Land & Vessels & Equipment Work-in-
    Buildings Buildings Floating Docks & Others (1) Progress Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 2015
 Cost
 At 1 January 120,605 1,826,739 467,503 1,786,043 549,950 4,750,840
 Additions 324 23,978 9,330 67,574 327,820 429,026
 Disposals (616) (1,101) (476) (28,736) - (30,929)
 Write-off - (126) - (13,645) (91) (13,862)
 Subsidiaries acquired 26 - - 59 - 85
 Subsidiaries disposed - - - (369) - (369)
 Reclassification
  - Stocks and other assets - - - (302) (1,945) (2,247)
  - Investment properties (Note 7) - - - (248) - (248)
  - Other fixed assets categories  1,982 231,103 - 141,039 (374,124) -
 Exchange differences 117 28,146 (10,103) 8,556 (36,863) (10,147)

 At 31 December 122,438 2,108,739 466,254 1,959,971 464,747 5,122,149

 Accumulated Depreciation
  & Impairment Losses
 At 1 January  49,642 772,039 187,535 1,068,609 - 2,077,825
 Depreciation charge 4,797 65,054 21,630 124,694 - 216,175
 Disposals (334) (515) (476) (26,876) - (28,201)
 Impairment loss/write-off - (126) - (5,718) - (5,844)
 Subsidiaries disposed - - - (342) - (342)
 Reclassification
  - Stocks and other assets - - - 399 - 399
  - Investment properties (Note 7) - - - (102) - (102)
  - Other fixed assets categories - 675 - (675) - -
 Exchange differences 1,410 10,429 (1,568) 6,421 - 16,692

 At 31 December 55,515 847,556 207,121 1,166,410 - 2,276,602

 Net Book Value 66,923 1,261,183 259,133 793,561 464,747 2,845,547

 Included in freehold land & buildings are freehold land amounting to $8,913,000 (2014: $11,254,000).

 Certain fixed assets with carrying amount of $260,809,000 (2014: $137,215,000) are mortgaged to banks for loan facilities (Note 21).

 Interest capitalised during the financial year amounted to $5,417,000 (2014: $2,364,000).
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       Plant,
    Freehold Leasehold  Machinery, Capital
    Land & Land & Vessels & Equipment Work-in-
    Buildings Buildings Floating Docks & Others (1) Progress Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 2014
 Cost
 At 1 January 120,662 1,858,825 449,937 3,043,349 418,896 5,891,669
 Additions  591  15,970  22,485  86,575  434,666  560,287 
 Disposals  (307) (123,721) (18,254) (176,570) (8,923) (327,775)
 Write-off  -    (715) (50) (1,315) (506) (2,586)
 Subsidiaries acquired  - 4,566 15,343 1,443 - 21,352 
 Subsidiaries disposed  (1,121) - -    (15,882) - (17,003)
 Reclassification
  - Stocks  - - - - 103,238 103,238 
  - Investment properties (Note 7) - (64,008) - (66,250) (90) (130,348)
  - Other fixed assets categories               341 123,028 - 265,085 (388,454) -   
  - Assets classified as held 
   for sale (Note 18) - - - (1,353,571) (12,666) (1,366,237)
 Exchange differences  439 12,794 (1,958) 3,179 3,789 18,243
 
 At 31 December  120,605 1,826,739 467,503 1,786,043 549,950 4,750,840 

 Accumulated Depreciation 
  & Impairment Losses
 At 1 January 44,817 723,200 171,908 1,153,465 - 2,093,390
 Depreciation charge  4,525 54,222 21,647 182,377 - 262,771 
 Disposals  (234) (15,091) (5,798) (59,427) - (80,550)
 Impairment loss/write-off  - 5,711 - (551) - 5,160 
 Subsidiaries disposed  (129) - - (9,855) - (9,984)
 Reclassification
  - Stocks  - - - 358 - 358 
  - Investment properties (Note 7)  - (1,131) - (2,150) - (3,281)
  - Assets classified as held 
   for sale (Note 18) - - - (198,015) - (198,015)
 Exchange differences  663 5,128 (222) 2,407 - 7,976

 At 31 December  49,642 772,039 187,535 1,068,609 - 2,077,825 

 Net Book Value 70,963 1,054,700 279,968 717,434 549,950 2,673,015 
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6. Fixed assets (continued)

     Plant,
    Freehold Machinery,
    Land & Equipment
    Buildings & Others (1) Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000

 Company
 2015
 Cost
 At 1 January 1,464 7,434 8,898
 Additions - 1,406 1,406
 Disposals (231) (350) (581)

 At 31 December 1,233 8,490 9,723

 Accumulated Depreciation
 At 1 January 1,296 6,908 8,204
 Depreciation charge 76 743 819
 Disposals (231) (350) (581)

 At 31 December 1,141 7,301 8,442

 Net Book Value 92 1,189 1,281

 2014
 Cost 
 At 1 January 1,464 7,196 8,660
 Additions - 238 238

 At 31 December 1,464 7,434 8,898

 Accumulated Depreciation
 At 1 January 1,220 6,558 7,778
 Depreciation charge 76 350 426

 At 31 December 1,296 6,908 8,204

 Net Book Value 168 526 694

(1)  Others comprise furniture, fittings and office equipment, cranes and small equipment and tools.
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7. Investment properties

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 1,987,515 2,187,858
 Development expenditure 729,391 34,644
 Fair value gain
  - Attributable to the Group (Note 25) 128,874 54,569
  - Attributable to third parties under a contractual agreement 7,853 7,983
 Disposal - (454,712)
 Subsidiary disposed (21,592) -
 Reclassification
  - Stocks and work-in-progress 404,761 -
  - Fixed assets (Note 6) 146 127,067
 Exchange differences 35,164 30,106

 At 31 December 3,272,112 1,987,515

 The Group’s investment properties (including integral plant and machinery) are stated at Directors’ assessments based on the 
following valuations (open market value basis), performed on an annual basis, by independent firms of professional valuers as at 
31 December 2015:

- Colliers International Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd for properties in Singapore;
- Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited for properties in China;
- CBRE (Vietnam) Co. Ltd for properties in Vietnam;
- CBRE Limited for a property in the Netherlands;
- KJPP Wilson & Rekan (an affiliate of Knight Frank) for properties in Indonesia;
- Savills (UK) Limited for a property in United Kingdom; and
- Agency for Real Estate Affairs Co., Ltd for a property in Thailand.

 Based on valuations performed by the independent valuers, management has analysed the appropriateness of the fair value 
changes.

 Interest capitalised during the financial year amounted to $6,006,000 (2014: $1,285,000).

 The Group has mortgaged certain investment properties of up to an aggregate amount of $434,567,000 (2014: $239,230,000) to 
banks for loan facilities (Note 21).

 In the prior year, the Group, through its subsidiary, D.L. Properties Ltd, divested its entire interest in Equity Plaza, resulting in a gain 
of $32 million attributable to shareholders of the Company. 

 During the year, the Group reclassified land and related costs for a property in China amounting to $404,761,000, from property 
held for sale to investment property, due to a change in the local government’s city planning and the Group’s decision to develop 
the land for future use as an investment property. The land was originally designated for residential development purpose. 
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8. Subsidiaries

 Company

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Quoted shares, at cost
  Market value: $649,287,000 (2014: $3,548,692,000) 398,140 2,083,839
 Unquoted shares, at cost 7,772,165 3,055,798
    8,170,305 5,139,637
 Provision for impairment (31,070) (72,070)

    8,139,235 5,067,567

 Movements in the provision for impairment of subsidiaries are as follows:

 Company

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 72,070 56,115
 (Credit)/charge to profit and loss account (41,000) 15,955

 At 31 December 31,070 72,070

 During the year, provision of impairment amounting to $41,000,000 was written-back as a result of increase in the estimated 
recoverable amount of a subsidiary.

 Impairment made in the prior year mainly relates to the shortfall between the carrying amount of the costs of investment and the 
recoverable amount of a subsidiary.

 Information relating to significant subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements is given in Note 36.

9. Associated companies

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Quoted shares, at cost
  Market value: $2,830,012,000
  (2014: $3,482,487,000) 2,993,194 2,801,642
 Unquoted shares, at cost 1,578,241 1,441,871
    4,571,435 4,243,513
 Provision for impairment (83,871) (98,430)
    4,487,564 4,145,083
 Share of reserves 789,192 843,361
    5,276,756 4,988,444
 Notes issued by an associated company 245,000 -

    5,521,756 4,988,444
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 Movements in the provision for impairment of associated companies are as follows:

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 98,430 149,498
 Write-back of impairment loss (16,728) (47,971)
 Disposal - (3,940)
 Exchange differences 2,169 843

 At 31 December 83,871 98,430

 Notes issued by an associated company are unsecured and considered to be part of investment in associated companies. The 
notes mature in 2040 and may be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount together with interest 
accrued up to the date of redemption. Interest is charged at 17.5% per annum.

 During the financial year, arising from the sale of certain assets in an associated company, the Group wrote back an impairment 
loss of $16,728,000 (2014: $47,971,000) on investment in associated companies. 

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 The share of net profit of associated companies is as follows:

 Share of profit before tax 504,321 504,176
 Share of taxation (Note 27) (68,415) (72,096)

 Share of net profit 435,906 432,080

 The summarised financial information of associated companies, not adjusted for the Group’s proportionate share, is as follows:

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Total assets 27,509,336 21,031,854
 Total liabilities 13,163,355 8,479,519
 Revenue 4,977,640 5,021,596
 Net profit  1,419,800 1,075,579

 The carrying amount of the Group’s material associates, all of which are equity accounted for and whose activities are strategic to 
the Group’s activities, are as follows: 

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Keppel REIT 1,938,012 1,833,180 
 Keppel Infrastructure Trust 292,403 290,577 
 KrisEnergy Limited 489,835 335,655 
 Other associates 2,801,506 2,529,032 
    5,521,756 4,988,444 
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9. Associated companies (continued)

 The summarised financial information of the material associates, not adjusted for the Group’s proportionate share, based on its 
FRS financial statements and a reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the consolidated financial statements 
are as follows:

  Keppel REIT Keppel Infrastructure Trust KrisEnergy Limited *

   2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Current assets 163,949 225,467 466,304 138,392 248,013 332,590 
 Non-current assets 7,261,469 7,103,937 3,625,406 472,634 1,333,712 709,489 
 Total assets 7,425,418  7,329,404 4,091,710 611,026 1,581,725 1,042,079
 Current liabilities 89,945 380,371 170,699 19,930 248,202 44,198 
 Non-current liabilities 2,709,452 2,491,613 2,327,535 - 450,888 430,065 
 Total liabilities 2,799,397 2,871,984 2,498,234 19,930 699,090 474,263 
 Net assets 4,626,021 4,457,420 1,593,476 591,096 882,635 567,816
 Proportion of the Group’s ownership 46% 45% 18% 49% 40% 31%
 Group’s share of net assets 2,122,418 2,018,320 290,172 290,642 354,378 178,294 
 Other adjustments (184,406) (185,140) 2,231 (65) 135,457 157,361 
 Carrying amount of the investment 1,938,012 1,833,180 292,403 290,577 489,835 335,655

 Revenue 170,347 184,093 382,599 65,451 67,161 101,531 
 Profit after tax  338,848 371,902 18,839 12,709 66,781 (43,236)
 Other comprehensive income (47,713) (11,469) 26,211 - (501) 8 
 Total comprehensive income 291,135 360,433 45,050 12,709 66,280 (43,228)
 Fair value of ownership 
  interest (if listed) ** 1,372,384 1,751,331 358,204 329,812 99,312 206,978 
 Dividends received 73,717 102,442 39,451 24,217  - -

* Financial information is available as at 30 September for the current year at the time of reporting and equity accounting is applied on financials from October of the 
preceding year to September of the current year. The difference in reporting period has no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

** Based on the quoted market price at 31 December (Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy).

 As at 31 December 2015, the fair values of Keppel REIT and KrisEnergy Limited are below the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
ownership interest. Management is of the view that no impairment is required as they are held for long term and their recoverable 
amounts are more than their carrying amounts.

 For the investment in KrisEnergy Limited (“KrisEnergy”), management performed an assessment on the recoverable amount 
using a discounted cash flow model based on a cash flow projection from 2016 to 2022 with a terminal value and applying certain 
estimates and assumptions, such as oil prices, discount rates, production volume, lifting costs, reserves and operating costs. 
The assumption for oil prices, ranging from US$55 to US$80 per barrel (for 2016 to 2022), is determined by taking reference 
from external information sources. The discount rate used is 10%. These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and 
uncertainty. Therefore, there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the 
recoverable amount of the investment in KrisEnergy. If the estimated oil prices applied to the discounted cash flows had been 10% 
lower than management’s estimates, the carrying amount would be lowered by $64,000,000.

 Aggregate information about the Group’s investments in associated companies that are not individually material are as follows:

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Share of profit before tax 314,026 338,916 
 Share of taxation (50,906) (58,852)
 Share of other comprehensive income 13,797 38,786 
 Share of total comprehensive income 276,917 318,850

 Information relating to significant associated companies, including information on principal activities, country of operation/
incorporation and proportion of ownership interest, and whose results are included in the financial statements is given in Note 36.
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10. Investments

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Available-for-sale investments:
  Quoted equity shares 11,732 67,690
  Unquoted equity shares 165,164 142,677
  Unquoted property funds 162,663 136,760
  Unquoted funds - others 10,544 11,239

    350,103 358,366

11. Long term assets

 Group Company

   2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Staff loans 1,586 1,799 486 402
 Long term receivables and others 295,594 306,232 - -
   297,180 308,031 486 402
 Less: Amounts due within one year and 
  included in debtors (Note 15) (13,716) (13,553) (106) (81)
   283,464 294,478 380 321
 Provision for doubtful debts - - - -

   283,464 294,478 380 321

 Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows:

 Group Company

   2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 At 1 January - 4,718 - -
 Charge to profit and loss account - (4,489) - -
 Exchange differences - (229) - -

 At 31 December - - - -

 Included in staff loans are interest-free advances to directors of related corporations amounting to $262,000 (2014: $114,000) 
under an approved car loan scheme.

 Long term receivables are unsecured, largely repayable after five years (2014: five years) and bears effective interest ranging from 
4.00% to 11.00% (2014: 4.00% to 11.00%) per annum.

 The fair value of long term receivables for the Group is $296,909,000 (2014: $304,896,000).  These fair values, under Level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy, are computed on the discounted cash flow basis using discount rates based upon market-related rates for 
similar instruments as at the balance sheet date.
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12. Intangibles
 
   Development Management Customer
  Goodwill Expenditure Rights Contracts Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 2015
 At 1 January       60,742 6,361  16,757 17,872 101,732
 Additions - 40 - - 40
 Amortisation - (2,643) - (1,219) (3,862)
 Impairment loss (1,472) - - - (1,472)
 Subsidiary acquired - 3,245 - - 3,245
 Exchange differences - 142 - - 142

 At 31 December 59,270 7,145 16,757 16,653 99,825

 Cost 59,270 21,791 16,757 24,963 122,781
 Accumulated amortisation - (14,646) - (8,310) (22,956)

  59,270 7,145 16,757 16,653 99,825

 2014
 At 1 January       59,270  7,879  - 19,091 86,240 
 Additions             - 10 - - 10 
 Amortisation             -  (1,146) - (1,219) (2,365)
 Subsidiary acquired        1,472  - 16,757 - 18,229 
 Subsidiary disposed             - (457) - - (457)
 Exchange differences             - 75 - - 75
 
 At 31 December       60,742 6,361 16,757 17,872 101,732 

 Cost       60,742 19,244 16,757 24,963 121,706
 Accumulated amortisation             - (12,883) - (7,091) (19,974)

        60,742 6,361 16,757 17,872 101,732 

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units.

 Goodwill allocated to the Offshore & Marine Division amounted to $2,092,000 (2014: $2,092,000). The recoverable amount 
is determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections derived from the most recent financial budgets 
approved by management for the next five years using discount rates of 6.99% (2014: 7.96%).  The key assumptions are those 
regarding the discount rate and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.  Management estimates discount rate using 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and risks specific to the unit.  Changes in selling 
prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

 Goodwill allocated to the Infrastructure Division amounted to $57,178,000 (2014: $58,650,000).  The recoverable amount of 
goodwill at the balance sheet date is based on current bid prices of the quoted shares of the cash-generating unit. 

 The recoverable amount of management rights is determined based on cash flow projections from the provision of asset 
management services using a pre-tax discount rate of 9.0% (2014: 9.0%). The key assumptions are those regarding the discount 
rate and expected changes to assets under management and net property income of these assets.

 As at 31 December 2015, apart from the impairment loss on goodwill of a subsidiary, any reasonably possible changes to the key 
assumptions applied above is not likely to cause the recoverable amounts of goodwill and management rights to be below the 
respective carrying amounts. 



171Group Overview   /   Operating & Financial Review   /   Governance & Sustainability   /   Financial Statements   /   Other Information

Directors’ Statement & Financial Statements - Notes to the Financial Statements

13. Stocks & work-in-progress

 Group

     2015 2014
     $’000 $’000

 Work-in-progress in excess of related billings (a) 3,841,112 3,339,234
 Consumable materials and supplies  141,052 173,936
 Finished products for sale  5,462 15,968
 Properties held for sale (c) 6,662,874 7,151,985

     10,650,500 10,681,123

 Billings on work-in-progress in excess of related costs (b) (1,888,468) (2,397,376)

(a) Work-in-progress in excess of related billings

 Costs incurred and attributable profits  13,918,026 12,897,402
 Provision for loss on work-in-progress  (4,498) (4,498)
    13,913,528 12,892,904
 Less: Progress billings  (10,072,416) (9,553,670)

    3,841,112 3,339,234

 The work-in-progress in excess of related billings included the recognition of expected losses of $228,000,000 (2014: Nil) 
with regards to certain rig building contracts.

 Movements in the provision for loss on work-in-progress are as follows:

 Group

     2015 2014
     $’000 $’000

 At 1 January  4,498 4,491
 Charge to profit and loss account  - 7

 At 31 December  4,498 4,498

(b) Billings on work-in-progress in excess of related costs

 Costs incurred and attributable profits  14,632,362 13,320,254
 Less: Progress billings  (16,520,830) (15,717,630)

    (1,888,468) (2,397,376)

(c) Properties held for sale

 Properties under development
  Land cost  3,761,352 4,682,842
  Development cost incurred to date  1,406,564 1,168,308
  Related overhead expenditure  603,972 561,317
  Progress billings   (483,283) (555,267)
    5,288,605 5,857,200
 Completed properties held for sale  1,458,228 1,329,045
    6,746,833 7,186,245
 Provision for properties held for sale  (83,959) (34,260)

    6,662,874 7,151,985
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13. Stocks & work-in-progress (continued)

 Movements in the provision for properties held for sale are as follows:

 Group

   2015 2014
   $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 34,260 29,893
 Charge to profit and loss account 55,471 4,019
 Exchange differences 80 348
 Amount written off (5,852) -

 At 31 December 83,959 34,260

 The following table provides information about agreements that are in progress 
 at the reporting date whose revenue are recognised on a percentage of 
 completion basis:

 Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profit
  (less recognised losses) to date 2,466,273 2,629,799
 Less: Progress billings (483,283) (555,267)

 At 31 December 1,982,990 2,074,532

 Interest capitalised during the financial year amounted to $56,441,000 (2014: $59,199,000) at rates ranging from 1.16% to 
3.30% (2014: 0.55% to 3.30%) per annum for Singapore properties and 0.05% to 15.00% (2014: 0.05% to 8.00%) per annum 
for overseas properties.

 Certain properties held for sale with carrying amount of $1,760,257,000 (2014: $2,327,841,000) are mortgaged to banks for 
loan facilities (Note 21).

14. Amounts due from/to

 Company

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Subsidiaries
 Amounts due from
  - trade 482,912 311,955
  - advances 2,969,448 3,795,019
    3,452,360 4,106,974
 Provision for doubtful debts (6,600) (6,600)

    3,445,760 4,100,374
 Amounts due to
  - trade 111,063 218,638
  - advances 881,993 785,932

    993,056 1,004,570

 Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows:

 At 1 January/31 December 6,600 6,600

 Advances to and from subsidiaries are unsecured and are repayable on demand.  Interest is charged at rates ranging from 0.00% 
to 4.00% (2014: 0.00% to 8.00%) per annum on interest-bearing advances.
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 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Associated Companies
 Amounts due from
  - trade 110,047 139,223 511 471
  - advances 399,040 491,375 - -
    509,087 630,598 511 471
 Provision for doubtful debts (46) (46) - -

    509,041 630,552 511 471
 Amounts due to
  - trade 54,316 43,665 - -
  - advances 83,060 93,523 - -

    137,376 137,188 - -

 Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows:

 At 1 January 46 286 - -
 Write-back to profit and loss account - (240) - -

 At 31 December 46 46 - -

 Advances to and from associated companies are unsecured and are repayable on demand.  Interest is charged at rates ranging 
from 0.13% to 8.00% (2014: 0.22% to 8.00%) per annum on interest-bearing advances.

15. Debtors

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Trade debtors 2,047,864 1,433,609 - -
 Provision for doubtful debts (8,759) (6,538) - -
    2,039,105 1,427,071 - -

 Long term receivables due within one year (Note 11) 13,716 13,553 106 81
 Sundry debtors 189,938 153,874 504 731
 Prepaid project cost & prepayments 61,843 60,923 167 225
 Tax recoverable 4,274 9,139 - -
 Goods & Services Tax receivable 41,538 62,585 - -
 Interest receivable 20,906 17,152 58 57
 Deposits paid 36,440 35,959 422 365
 Advance land payments 20,559 67,717 - -
 Recoverable accounts 187,557 155,116 - -
 Accrued receivables 261,000 149,896 - -
 Advances to subcontractors 153,220 225,041 - -
 Advances to non-controlling shareholders 
  of subsidiaries 147,414 145,597 - -
    1,138,405 1,096,552 1,257 1,459
 Provision for doubtful debts (32,688) (22,957) - -
    1,105,717 1,073,595 1,257 1,459

 Total 3,144,822 2,500,666 1,257 1,459
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15. Debtors (continued)

 Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows:

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 29,495 32,966 - -
 Charge to profit and loss account 12,242 2,945 - -
 Amount written off (261) (1,472) - -
 Subsidiary disposed (56) (4,874) - -
 Exchange differences 27 (70) - -

 At 31 December 41,447 29,495 - -

16. Short term investments

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Available-for-sale investments:
  Quoted equity shares 77,121 217,704
  Unquoted equity shares 1,315 1,217
  Unquoted unit trust 47,167 42,209

 Total available-for-sale investments 125,603 261,130
   
 Investments held for trading:
  Quoted equity shares 99,515 110,321

 Total short term investments 225,118 371,451

17. Bank balances, deposits and cash

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Bank balances and cash 617,846 2,587,578 91 2,308
 Fixed deposits with banks 1,116,777 3,028,583 - -
 Amounts held under escrow accounts for overseas 
  acquisition of land, payment of construction
  cost and liabilities 33,723 23,650 - -
 Amounts held under project accounts, 
  withdrawals from which are restricted to 
  payments for expenditures incurred on projects 124,495 96,190 - -

    1,892,841 5,736,001 91 2,308

 Fixed deposits with banks of the Group mature on varying periods, substantially between 1 day to 3 months (2014: 1 day to 3 
months).  This comprises Singapore dollar fixed deposits of $45,053,000 (2014: $1,943,175,000) at interest rates ranging from 
0.00% to 2.70% (2014: 0.00% to 2.75%) per annum, and foreign currency fixed deposits of $1,071,724,000 (2014: $1,085,408,000) 
at interest rates ranging from 0.00% to 14.22% (2014: 0.00% to 11.57%) per annum.
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18. Assets classified as held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale

 On 18 November 2014, Keppel Energy Pte Ltd (“KE”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a conditional sale 
and purchase agreement with Keppel Infrastructure Fund Management Pte. Ltd., in its capacity as trustee-manager of Keppel 
Infrastructure Trust (“KIT”), to divest 102 ordinary shares, representing 51% of the issued and paid-up share capital of Keppel 
Merlimau Cogen Pte Ltd (“KMC”) to KIT. 

 As at 31 December 2014, the assets and liabilities of KMC have been presented separately as “assets classified as held for sale” 
and “liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale” in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations as follows:

  Group
  2014
  $’000

 Assets classified as held for sale
 Fixed assets (Note 6) 1,168,222
 Stocks & work-in-progress in excess of related billings 27,437
 Debtors 61,595
 Bank balances, deposits & cash 1,386

  1,258,640
 Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale
 Creditors 284,787
 Deferred taxation 165,230

  450,017

 In June 2015, KE entered into an equity transfer agreement to dispose of its 51% stake of KMC and the transaction was 
completed. 

19. Creditors

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Trade creditors 596,857 805,240 - -
 Customers’ advances and deposits 66,228 67,895 - -
 Proceeds received from sale of properties 342,162 282,763 - -
 Sundry creditors 1,226,701 1,357,466 2,828 2,780
 Accrued operating expenses 2,262,589 2,118,849 123,634 131,304
 Advances from non-controlling shareholders 215,617 223,945 - -
 Retention monies 216,519 187,323 - -
 Interest payables 44,876 39,173 18,404 17,009

    4,971,549 5,082,654 144,866 151,093

 Other non-current liabilities:
  Accrued operating expenses 142,421 148,669 59,802 66,273

 The carrying amount of the non-current liabilities approximates their fair value.

 Advances from non-controlling shareholders of certain subsidiaries are unsecured and are repayable on demand.  Interest is 
charged at rates ranging from 1.20% to 4.50% (2014: 1.20% to 3.48%) per annum on interest-bearing advances.
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20. Provisions

  Warranties  Claims  Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Group
 2015
 At 1 January 149,526 - 149,526
 Write-back to profit and loss account (48,564) - (48,564)
 Amount utilised (7,804) - (7,804)
 Exchange differences (2,942) - (2,942)

 At 31 December 90,216 - 90,216
     

 2014
 At 1 January 153,598 10,005 163,603
 Charge to profit and loss account 649 - 649
 Amount utilised (3,458) (10,005) (13,463)
 Exchange differences (1,263) - (1,263)

 At 31 December 149,526 - 149,526

21. Term loans

  2015 2014

     Due within Due after Due within Due after
     one year one year one year one year
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 Keppel Corporation Medium Term Notes (a) - 1,700,000 - 1,500,000
 Keppel Land Medium Term Notes (b) - 880,700 154,994 854,083
 Keppel Land 1.875% Convertible Bonds 2015 (c) - - 495,649 -
 Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation 
  Medium Term Notes (d) - 120,000 - 120,000
 Keppel GMTN Floating Rate Notes (e) - 282,000 - 260,800
 Bank and other loans
  - secured (f) 11,764 1,216,914 123,234 915,945
  - unsecured (g) 844,971 3,202,320 1,021,758 1,936,080

     856,735 7,401,934 1,795,635 5,586,908

 Company
 Keppel Corporation Medium Term Notes (a) - 1,700,000 - 1,500,000
 Unsecured bank loans (g) 631,879 800,000 290,511 -

     631,879 2,500,000 290,511 1,500,000

(a) At the end of the financial year, notes issued under the US$3,000,000,000 Multi-Currency Medium Term Note Programme by 
the Company amounted to $1,700,000,000 (2014: $1,500,000,000).  The notes are unsecured and comprised fixed rate notes 
due from 2020 to 2042 (2014: from 2020 to 2042) with interest rates ranging from 3.10% to 4.00% (2014: 3.10% to 4.00%) 
per annum.
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(b) At the end of the financial year, notes issued under the US$3,000,000,000 Multi-Currency Medium Term Note Programme by 
Keppel Land Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Keppel Land Financial Services Pte. Ltd. amounted to $351,753,000 
(2014: $325,339,000). The fixed rate notes, due in 2019, are unsecured and carried an interest rate of 3.26% (2014: 3.26%) 
per annum.

 At the end of the financial year, notes issued under the US$800,000,000 Multi-Currency Medium Term Note Programme by 
Keppel Land Limited amounted to $528,947,000 (2014: $683,738,000).  The notes are unsecured and comprised fixed rate 
notes due from 2017 to 2024 (2014: 2015 to 2024) with interest rates ranging from 2.83% to 3.90% (2014: 2.67% to 3.90%) 
per annum.

(c) The $500,000,000 1.875%, 5 year convertible bonds were issued in 2010 by Keppel Land Limited.  Interest was payable 
semi-annually.  On 25 April 2012, $200,000 of the bond was converted and cancelled pursuant to the exercise of conversion 
rights by a bondholder.  On 18 August 2015, an aggregate amount of $160,500,000 of the bond were redeemed and 
subsequently cancelled pursuant to the exercise of the Delisting Put Right of the bonds by the bondholders. Keppel Land 
Limited redeemed the remaining $339,300,000 upon maturity on 29 November 2015. 

 The convertible bonds are recognised on the balance sheet as follows:

   2015 2014
   $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 495,649 491,188
 Interest expense 11,899 13,836
 Interest paid/accrued (7,748) (9,375)
 Redemption upon maturity (499,800) -

 Liability component at 31 December - 495,649

 Interest expense on the convertible bonds is calculated based on the effective interest method by applying the interest 
rate of 2.50% (2014: 2.50%) per annum for an equivalent non-convertible bond to the liability component of the convertible 
bonds.

(d) At the end of the financial year, notes issued under the S$500,000,000 Multi-Currency Medium Term Note Programme by 
Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd, amounted to $120,000,000 (2014: $120,000,000).  The fixed rates notes, 
due in 2019, are unsecured and carried an interest rate of 2.63% (2014: 2.63%) per annum from August 2012 to August 
2017, and at 3.83% (2014: 3.83%) per annum from August 2017 to August 2019.

(e) At the end of the financial year, US$200,000,000 notes issued under the US$2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note 
Programme by Keppel GMTN Pte Ltd amounted to $282,000,000 (2014: $260,800,000).  The floating rate notes due in 2020 
are unsecured and bear interest rate payable quarterly at 3-month US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate plus 0.89% per 
annum and ranging from 1.12% to 1.21% (2014: 1.12% to 1.13%) per annum. 

(f) The secured bank loans consist of:

- A term loan of $289,580,000 (2014: $289,370,000) drawn down by a subsidiary.  The term loan is repayable in 2017 and 
is secured on certain assets of the subsidiary.  Interest is based on money market rates ranging from 1.30% to 2.17% 
(2014: 1.26% to 1.90%) per annum. 

- A term loan of $53,121,000 (2014: $46,621,000) drawn down by a subsidiary.  The term loan is repayable in 2018 and 
is secured on certain assets of the subsidiary.  Interest is based on money market rates ranging from 1.19% to 2.62% 
(2014: 1.20% to 1.71%) per annum.

- A term loan of $395,409,000 (2014: $394,861,000) drawn down by a subsidiary.  The term loan is repayable in 2019 and 
is secured on certain assets of the subsidiary.  Interest is based on money market rates ranging from 1.16% to 2.30% 
(2014: 1.02% to 1.16%) per annum.
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21. Term loans (continued)

- A term loan of $nil (2014: $38,000,000) drawn down by a subsidiary.  The term loan was repaid in 2015 and was 
previously secured on the investment property of the subsidiary.  Interest was based on money market rates ranging 
from nil% to nil% (2014: 1.44% to 1.48%) per annum.

- Term loans of $nil (2014: $9,600,000) drawn down by subsidiaries.  The term loans were repaid in 2015 and were 
secured on certain fixed assets of the subsidiaries.  Interest was based on money market rates ranging from nil% to 
nil% (2014: 0.80% to 0.87%) per annum.

- Other secured bank loans comprised $490,568,000 (2014: $260,727,000) of foreign currency loans.  They are 
repayable between one to seventeen (2014: one to five) years and are secured on investment property and certain 
fixed and other assets of the subsidiaries.  Interest on foreign currency loans is based on money market rates ranging 
from 1.71% to 16.70% (2014: 3.03% to 16.70%) per annum.

(g) The unsecured bank and other loans of the Group totaling $4,047,291,000 (2014: $2,957,838,000) comprised $2,243,506,000 
(2014: $1,215,834,000) of loans denominated in Singapore dollar and $1,803,785,000 (2014: $2,002,804,000) of foreign 
currency loans.  They are repayable between one to sixteen (2014: one to six) years.  Interest on loans denominated in 
Singapore dollar is based on money market rates ranging from 1.05% to 2.90% (2014: 0.83% to 4.50%) per annum. Interest 
on foreign currency loans is based on money market rates ranging from 0.60% to 13.80% (2014: 0.38% to 10.73%) per 
annum.

 
 The unsecured bank loans of the Company totaling $1,431,879,000 (2014: $290,511,000) comprise $972,620,000 (2014: 

nil) of loans denominated in Singapore dollar and $459,259,000 (2014: $290,511,000) of foreign currency loans.  They are 
repayable within one to six months (2014: one to six months).  Interest on loans denominated in Singapore dollar is based 
on money market rates ranging from 1.32% to 2.21% (2014: nil) per annum. Interest on foreign currency loans is based on 
money market rates ranging from 0.79% to 2.57% (2014: 0.38% to 3.30%) per annum.

 The Group has mortgaged certain properties and assets of up to an aggregate amount of $2,455,633,000 (2014: $2,704,286,000) to 
banks for loan facilities.

 The fair values of term loans for the Group and Company are $8,269,763,000 (2014: $7,426,920,000) and $3,127,116,000 (2014: 
$1,787,799,000) respectively. These fair values, under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, are computed on the discounted cash 
flow method using a discount rate based upon the borrowing rate which the Group expect would be available as at the balance 
sheet date.

 Loans due after one year are estimated to be repayable as follows:

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Years after year-end:
 After one but within two years 1,087,608 137,015 - -
 After two but within five years 3,870,282 3,260,206 500,000 -
 After five years 2,444,044 2,189,687 2,000,000 1,500,000

    7,401,934 5,586,908 2,500,000 1,500,000
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22. Deferred taxation

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Deferred tax liabilities:
  Accelerated tax depreciation 123,573 107,375 - -
  Investment properties valuation 148,684 132,404 - -
  Offshore income & others 137,972 119,875 - -
    410,229 359,654 - -

 Deferred tax assets:
  Provisions (26,981) (30,938) - -
  Unutilised tax benefits (10,075) (26,223) - -
    (37,056) (57,161) - -

 Net deferred tax liabilities 373,173 302,493 - -

 Net deferred tax liabilities are determined by offsetting deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities of the same entities. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unutilised tax benefits carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax 
benefits through future taxable profits is probable.

 The Group has unrecognised deferred tax liabilities of $81,145,000 (2014: $59,239,000) for taxes that would be payable on the 
undistributed earnings of certain subsidiaries as these earnings would not be distributed in the foreseeable future and the Group 
is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences.

 The Group has unutilised tax losses and capital allowances of $438,111,000 (2014: $389,130,000) for which no deferred tax benefit 
is recognised in the balance sheet.  These tax losses and capital allowances can be carried forward and used to offset against 
future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by those companies with unrecognised tax losses and 
capital allowances in their respective countries of incorporation.  The unutilised tax losses and capital allowances do not have 
expiry dates.
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22. Deferred taxation (continued)

 Movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

         Liabilities
     Charged/    directly
     (credited)    associated
     to other    with assets
    Charged/ comprehen-    classified as
   At (credited) to sive  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Reclassifi- held for sale Exchange At
   1 January profit or loss income disposed acquired cation (Note 18) differences 31 December
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 2015
 Deferred Tax Liabilities
 Accelerated tax 
  depreciation 107,375 21,985 - (601) 10 (5,177) - (19) 123,573
 Investment properties 
  valuation 132,404 15,833 - (49) - - - 496 148,684
 Offshore income 
  & others 119,875 18,699 (2,216) - 548 - - 1,066 137,972
 Total 359,654 56,517 (2,216) (650) 558 (5,177) - 1,543 410,229

 Deferred Tax Assets
 Other provisions (30,938) 4,827 - - - (796) - (74) (26,981)
 Unutilised tax benefits (26,223) 17,208 - - - - - (1,060) (10,075)
 Total (57,161) 22,035 - - - (796) - (1,134) (37,056)

 Net Deferred Tax 
  Liabilities 302,493 78,552 (2,216) (650) 558 (5,973) - 409 373,173

 2014
 Deferred Tax Liabilities
 Accelerated tax 
  depreciation 288,306 6,701 - - - - (187,300) (332) 107,375
 Investment properties 
  valuation 124,183 7,744 - - - - - 477 132,404
 Offshore income 
  & others 139,257 (22,585) 2,351 - - - - 852 119,875
 Total 551,746 (8,140) 2,351 - - - (187,300) 997 359,654

 Deferred Tax Assets
 Other provisions (37,600) 3,923 - - - 568 2,180 (9) (30,938)
 Unutilised tax benefits (52,867) 14,231 - - - (7,087) 19,890 (390) (26,223)
 Total (90,467) 18,154 - - - (6,519) 22,070 (399) (57,161)

 Net Deferred Tax 
  Liabilities 461,279 10,014 2,351 - - (6,519) (165,230) 598 302,493
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23. Revenue

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Revenue from construction contracts 6,201,379 8,547,313
 Sale of property
  - Recognised on completion of construction method 1,069,553 860,351
  - Recognised on percentage of completion method 536,628 564,962
 Sale of goods 23,667 25,602
 Rental income from investment properties 76,625 91,105
 Revenue from services rendered 2,323,868 3,155,767
 Profit on sale of investments 59,780 29,887
 Dividend income from quoted shares 4,796 7,776
 Others 177 216

    10,296,473 13,282,979

24. Staff costs

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Wages and salaries 1,259,855 1,406,861
 Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund 106,631 105,077
 Share options and share plans granted to Directors and employees 55,221 56,461
 Other staff benefits 178,303 164,565

    1,600,010 1,732,964

25. Operating profit

 Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Included in materials and subcontract costs:
  Fair value loss/(gain) on
   - investments 13,465 (82)
   - forward foreign exchange contracts 14,985 21,805
  Cost of stocks & properties held for sale recognised as expense 1,161,273 1,038,024
  Direct operating expenses
   - investment properties that generated rental income 22,746 23,802

 Included in staff costs:
  Key management’s emoluments
  (including executive directors’ remuneration)
   - short-term employee benefits 14,933 23,521
   - post-employment benefits 78 127
   - share options and share plans granted 6,707 9,391
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25. Operating profit (continued)
 
 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Included in other operating expense/(income):
  Auditors’ remuneration
   - auditors of the Company 1,495 1,550
   - other auditors of subsidiaries 4,405 4,232
  Fees and other remuneration to Directors of the Company 2,519 2,355
  Contracts for services rendered by Directors or with a company 
   in which a Director has a substantial financial interest 2,589 956
  Impairment/write-off of fixed assets  8,018 7,746
  Profit on sale of fixed assets and investment property (3,251) (289,214)
  Loss on sale of investments 4,805 21,879
  Fair value loss/(gain) on
   - investments 21,883 15,084
   - forward foreign exchange contracts 8,350 5,584
   - interest rate caps and swaps (6,106) (3,170)
  Provision for stocks and work-in-progress 59,064 2,699
  Provision for doubtful debts 12,242 2,945
  Rental expense
   - operating leases 109,627 107,153
  Loss on differences in foreign exchange 3,092 7,513
  Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  (218,770) (48,647)
  Loss/(gain) on disposal of associated companies 18,823 (145,184)
  Write-back of impairment of investments and associated company (16,728) (47,971)
  Fair value gain on investment properties (Note 7) (128,874) (54,569)
  Gain associated with restructuring of operations and others (65,876) (4,752)
  Non-audit fees paid to
   - auditors of the Company 75 118
   - other auditors of subsidiaries 572  463

26. Investment income, interest income and interest expenses

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Investment income from:
  Shares - quoted outside Singapore 1,866 4,169
  Shares - unquoted 13,100 7,767

    14,966 11,936

 Interest income from:
  Bonds, debentures, deposits and associated companies 119,320 133,104

 Interest expenses on bonds, debentures, fixed term loans and overdrafts (160,950) (137,194)
 Fair value gain on interest rate caps and swaps 6,106 3,170

    (154,844) (134,024)
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27. Taxation

(a) Income tax expense

 Group

   2015 2014
   $’000 $’000

 Tax expense comprised:
  Current tax 265,299 397,319
  Adjustment for prior year’s tax (66,456) (33,512)
  Share of taxation of associated companies (Note 9) 68,415 72,096
  Others 58,619 16,445

 Deferred tax movement:
  Movements in temporary differences (Note 22) 78,552 10,014

   404,429 462,362

 The income tax expense on the results of the Group differ from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying 
the Singapore standard rate of income tax to profit before tax due to the following:

 Group

   2015 2014
   $’000 $’000

 Profit before tax  1,997,394 2,888,612

 Tax calculated at tax rate of 17% (2014: 17%) 339,557 491,064
 Income not subject to tax (217,668) (181,507)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 294,996 133,816
 Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax benefits (6,007) (21,587)
 Effect of different tax rates in other countries 60,007 74,088
 Adjustment for prior year’s tax (66,456) (33,512)

   404,429 462,362

(b) Movement in current income tax liabilities

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 462,699 465,387 14,000 19,575
 Exchange differences 1,759 143 - -
 Tax expense 265,299 397,319 9,500 7,000
 Adjustment for prior year’s tax (66,456) (33,512) (6,978) (12,575)
 Income taxes paid (302,763) (332,610) (655) -
 Subsidiary acquired 205 102 - -
 Subsidiaries disposed (33) (862) - -
 Reclassification
  - tax recoverable and others (8,115) (33,268) - -

 At 31 December 352,595 462,699 15,867 14,000
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  Group

  2015 2014
  $’000 $’000
   Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

 Net profit attributable to shareholders 1,524,622 1,524,622 1,884,798 1,884,798
 Adjustment for dilutive potential ordinary shares
  of subsidiaries and associated companies - (443) - (1,730)

 Adjusted net profit 1,524,622 1,524,179 1,884,798 1,883,068

  Number of Shares Number of Shares
  ’000 ’000

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
  (excluding treasury shares) 1,814,546 1,814,546 1,815,042 1,815,042
 Adjustment for dilutive potential ordinary shares - 10,479 - 16,461
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used 
  to compute earnings per share (excluding 
  treasury shares) 1,814,546 1,825,025 1,815,042 1,831,503

 Earnings per ordinary share 84.0 cts 83.5 cts 103.8 cts 102.8 cts

29. Dividends

 A final cash dividend of 22.0 cents per share tax exempt one-tier (2014: final cash dividend of 36.0 cents per share tax exempt one-
tier) in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 has been proposed for approval by shareholders at the next Annual 
General Meeting to be convened.  

 Together with the interim dividend comprising a cash dividend of 12.0 cents per share tax exempt one-tier (2014: cash dividend of 
12.0 cents per share tax exempt one-tier), total distributions paid and proposed in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 
2015 will be 34.0 cents per share (2014: 48.0 cents per share).

 During the financial year, the following distributions were made:

   $’000

 A final cash dividend of 36.0 cents per share tax exempt one-tier on the issued 
  and fully paid ordinary shares in respect of the previous financial year 654,398

 An interim cash dividend of 12.0 cents per share tax exempt one-tier on the issued 
  and fully paid ordinary shares in respect of the current financial year 218,081

   872,479

Notes to the Financial Statements
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30. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements:

 In respect of contracts placed:
  - for purchase and construction of investment properties 32,703 71,047
  - for purchase of other fixed assets 85,065 131,798
  - for purchase/subscription of shares in other companies 218,753 250,079

 Amounts approved by Directors in addition to contracts placed:
  - for purchase and construction of investment properties 119,204 142,310
  - for purchase of other fixed assets 402,812 412,767
  - for purchase/subscription of shares in other companies 6,733 23,073
    865,270 1,031,074
 Less: Non-controlling shareholders’ shares (11,436) (272,267)

    853,834 758,807

 There was no significant future capital expenditure/commitment of the Company.

(b) Lessee’s lease commitments
 The Group leases land and office buildings from non-related parties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  

The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.  The future minimum lease payable in respect of 
significant non-cancellable operating leases as at the end of the financial year is as follows:

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Years after year-end:
 Within one year 100,296 109,170 129 49
 From two to five years 330,872 349,888 171 -
 After five years 874,680 1,029,104 - -

    1,305,848 1,488,162 300 49

(c) Lessor’s lease commitments
 The Group leases out commercial space to non-related parties under non-cancellable operating leases.  The future 

minimum lease receivable in respect of significant non-cancellable operating leases as at the end of the financial year is as 
follows:

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Years after year-end:
 Within one year 224,961 147,020 - -
 From two to five years 271,613 222,717 - -
 After five years 147,644 151,902 - -

    644,218 521,639 - -

 Some of the operating leases are subject to revision of lease rentals at periodic intervals.  For the purposes of the above, the 
prevailing lease rentals are used.
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31. Contingent liabilities and guarantees (unsecured)

 Group Company

    2015 2014 2015 2014
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Guarantees in respect of banks and other loans
  granted to subsidiaries and associated companies 506,410 452,719 1,428,160 1,664,968
 Bank guarantees 7,583 30,165 - -
 Others 378 619 - -

    514,371 483,503 1,428,160 1,664,968

 The financial effects of FRS 39 relating to financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are not material to the financial 
statements of the Company and therefore are not recognised.

32. Significant related party transactions

 Other than the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, there were no other significant related 
party transactions during the financial year.

33. Financial risk management

 The Group operates internationally and is exposed to a variety of financial risks, comprising market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  Financial risk management is carried out by the Keppel Group 
Treasury Department in accordance with established policies and guidelines.  These policies and guidelines are established by the 
Group Central Finance Committee and are updated to take into account changes in the operating environment.  This committee is 
chaired by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and includes Chief Financial Officers of the Group’s key operating companies 
and Head Office specialists.

 Market Risk

(i) Currency risk
 The Group has receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies viz US dollars, European and other Asian 

currencies.  The Group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movement of these foreign 
currencies against the functional currencies of the respective Group entities.  To hedge against the volatility of future cash 
flows caused by changes in foreign currency rates, the Group utilises forward foreign currency contracts and other foreign 
currency hedging instruments to hedge the Group’s exposure to specific currency risks relating to investments, receivables, 
payables and other commitments.  Group Treasury Department monitors the current and projected foreign currency cash 
flow of the Group and aims to reduce the exposure of the net position in each currency by borrowing in foreign currency and 
other currency contracts where appropriate.

 As at the end of the financial year, the Group has outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts with notional amounts 
totalling $8,444,817,000 (2014: $9,753,671,000).  The net negative fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is 
$398,172,000 (2014: net negative fair value of $315,776,000) comprising assets of $117,644,000 (2014: $25,907,000) and 
liabilities of $515,816,000 (2014: $341,683,000). These amounts are recognised as derivative assets and derivative liabilities.

 As at the end of the financial year, the Company has outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts with notional amounts 
totalling $8,425,838,000 (2014: $9,625,812,000).  The net negative fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is 
$395,239,000 (2014: net negative fair value of $316,246,000) comprising assets of $120,507,000 (2014: $24,829,000) and 
liabilities of $515,746,000 (2014: $341,075,000). These amounts are recognised as derivative assets and derivative liabilities.



187Group Overview   /   Operating & Financial Review   /   Governance & Sustainability   /   Financial Statements   /   Other Information

Directors’ Statement & Financial Statements - Notes to the Financial Statements

 Other than the above hedged foreign currency contracts, the unhedged currency exposure of financial assets and financial 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective entities’ functional currencies are as follows:

  2015 2014

   USD Euro Others USD Euro Others
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 Financial Assets
 Debtors 653,801 10,116 259,838 265,883 21,144 287,090
 Investments 224,929 - 49,237 197,589 - 56,891
 Bank balances, 
  deposits & cash 493,705 4,436 168,233 405,770 29,310 72,229
 Financial Liabilities
 Creditors 58,880 354 75,099 69,543 645 29,773
 Term loans 1,383,672 - 89,487 1,010,277 56,119 240,752

 Company
 Financial Assets
 Debtors 30 - 99 26 - 126
 Bank balances, 
  deposits & cash 50 - 784 27 - 1,036

 The Company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency translation 
risk. The Group does not currently designate its foreign currency denominated debt as a hedging instrument for the purpose 
of hedging the translation of its foreign operations. 

 Sensitivity analysis for currency risk
 If the relevant foreign currency change against SGD by 5% (2014: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the effects will 

be as follows:

 Profit before tax Equity

   2015 2014 2015 2014
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 USD against SGD
 - Strengthened (14,858) (20,346) 11,326 9,849
 - Weakened 14,858 20,346 (11,326) (9,849)
 Euro against SGD
 - Strengthened 705 (314) - -
 - Weakened (705) 314 - -

 Company
 USD against SGD
 - Strengthened 3 3 - -
 - Weakened (3) (3) - -
 
(ii) Interest rate risk
 The Group is exposed to interest rate risk for changes in interest rates primarily for debt obligations, placements in the 

money market and investments in bonds.  The Group policy is to maintain a mix of fixed and variable rate debt instruments 
with varying maturities.  Where necessary, the Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate risks.

 The Group enters into interest rate swap agreements to hedge the interest rate risk exposure arising from its SGD, USD 
and Renminbi variable rate term loans (Note 21).  As at the end of the financial year, the Group has interest rate swap 
agreements with notional amount totalling $1,711,435,000 (2014: $1,138,161,000) whereby it receives variable rates equal 
to SIBOR, LIBOR and SHIBOR (2014: SIBOR and LIBOR) and pays fixed rates of between 0.85% and 4.90% (2014: 1.27% and 
3.62%) on the notional amount.
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33. Financial risk management (continued)

 The net negative fair value of interest rate swaps for the Group is $1,959,000 (2014: net negative fair value of $14,047,000) 
comprising assets of $3,475,000 (2014: $379,000) and liabilities of $5,434,000 (2014: $14,426,000).  These amounts are 
recognised as derivative assets and derivative liabilities.

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
 If interest rates increase/decrease by 0.5% (2014: 0.5%) with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax 

would have been lower/higher by $6,064,000 (2014: $6,855,000) as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate 
loans.

(iii) Price risk
 The Group hedges against fluctuations arising on the purchase of natural gas that affect cost. Exposure to price fluctuations 

is managed via fuel oil forward contracts, whereby the price of natural gas is indexed to benchmark fuel price indices, High 
Sulphur Fuel Oil (HSFO) 180-CST and Dated Brent.  As at the end of the financial year, the Group has outstanding HSFO and 
Dated Brent forward contracts with notional amounts totalling $687,042,000 (2014: $583,635,000) and $7,030,000 (2014: 
$11,284,000) respectively.  The net negative fair value of HSFO forward contracts for the Group is $257,618,000 (2014: 
net negative fair value of $219,752,000) comprising assets of $70,000 (2014: $nil) and liabilities of $257,688,000 (2014: 
$219,752,000).  The net negative fair value of Dated Brent forward contracts for the Group is $1,337,000 (2014: net negative 
fair value of $3,519,000).  These amounts are recognised as derivative assets and derivative liabilities.

 The Group hedges against fluctuations in electricity prices via its daily sales of electricity. Exposure to price fluctuations is 
managed via electricity futures contracts. As at the end of the financial year, the Group has outstanding electricity futures 
contracts with notional amounts totalling $15,955,000 (2014: $nil). The net positive fair values of electricity futures contracts 
is $4,283,000 (2014: $nil). The amount is recognised as derivative assets.

 The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from equity investments classified as investments held for 
trading and available-for-sale investments.  To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group 
diversifies its portfolio.  Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

 Sensitivity analysis for price risk
 If prices for HSFO and Dated Brent increase/decrease by 5% (2014: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 

hedging reserve in equity would have been higher/lower by $21,471,000 (2014: $18,194,000) and $285,000 (2014: $388,000) 
respectively as a result of fair value changes on cash flow hedges.

 If prices for electricity futures contracts increase/decrease by 5% (2014: nil%) with all other variables held constant, the 
Group’s hedging reserve in equity would have been higher/lower by $584,000 (2014: $nil) as a result of fair value changes on 
cash flow hedges.

 If prices for quoted investments increase/decrease by 5% (2014: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 
profit before tax would have been higher/lower by $4,976,000 (2014: $5,516,000) as a result of higher/lower fair value gains 
on investments held for trading, and the Group’s fair value reserve in other comprehensive income would have been higher/
lower by $4,443,000 (2014: $14,267,000) as a result of higher/lower fair value gains on available-for-sale investments.

 The various sensitivity rates used in the sensitivity analysis for currency, interest rate and price risks represent rates 
generally used internally by management when assessing the various risks.

 Credit Risk
 Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors will default on their obligation to repay the amount owing to the Group.  A substantial 

portion of the Group’s revenue is on credit terms or stage of completion.  These credit terms are normally contractual.  The Group 
adopts stringent procedures on extending credit terms to customers and on the monitoring of credit risk.  The credit policy spells 
out clearly the guidelines on extending credit terms to customers, including monitoring the process and using related industry’s 
practices as reference.  This includes assessment and valuation of customers’ credit reliability and periodic review of their 
financial status to determine the credit limits to be granted.  Customers are also assessed based on their historical payment 
records.  Where necessary, customers may also be requested to provide security or advance payment before services are 
rendered.  The Group’s policy does not permit non-secured credit risk to be significantly centralised in one customer or a group of 
customers.

 The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of financial assets which are mainly debtors, amounts due from 
associated companies and bank balances, deposits and cash.
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(i) Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
 Debtors and amounts due from associated companies that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies 

with good collection track record with the Group.  Bank deposits, forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate caps and 
interest rate swaps are mainly transacted with banks of high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(ii) Financial assets that are past due but not impaired/partially impaired
 The age analysis of trade debtors past due but not impaired/partially impaired is as follows:

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Past due 0 to 3 months but not impaired 490,383 531,853
 Past due 3 to 6 months but not impaired 99,625 32,519
 Past due over 6 months and partially impaired 575,680 116,011

    1,165,688 680,383

 Trade debtors that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors that are in 
significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments.

 Information relating to the provision for doubtful debts is given in Note 15.

 Liquidity Risk
 Prudent liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient cash and marketable securities, internally generated 

cash flows, and the availability of funding resources through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  Group Treasury 
also maintains a mix of short-term money market borrowings and medium/long term loans to fund working capital requirements 
and capital expenditures/investments.  Due to the dynamic nature of business, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by 
ensuring that ample working capital lines are available at any one time.

 Information relating to the maturity profile of loans is given in Note 21.

 The following table details the liquidity analysis for derivative financial instruments and borrowings of the Group and the Company 
based on contractual undiscounted cash inflows/(outflows).

     Within Within
    Within one to two to After
    one year two years  five years five years
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 2015
 Gross-settled forward foreign exchange contracts
  - Receipts 4,944,156 2,147,922 921,027 -
  - Payments (5,140,189) (2,320,481) (930,107) -
 Net-settled HSFO forward contracts    
  - Receipts 15 55 - -
  - Payments (185,283) (72,405) - -
 Net-settled Dated Brent forward contracts    
  - Payments (1,337) - - -
 Net-settled electricity futures contracts    
  - Receipts 4,283 - - -
 Borrowings (1,057,296) (1,257,867) (4,268,375) (2,907,365)

 2014
 Gross-settled forward foreign exchange contracts
  - Receipts 4,680,313 2,541,804 2,245,217 -
  - Payments (4,899,429)  (2,641,733) (2,292,699) -
 Net-settled HSFO forward contracts    
  - Payments (164,727) (51,865) (3,160) -
 Net-settled Dated Brent forward contracts    
  - Payments (3,519) - - -
 Borrowings (1,945,561) (268,190) (3,617,775) (2,630,933)
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     Within Within
    Within one to two to After
    one year two years  five years five years
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Company
 2015
 Gross-settled forward foreign exchange contracts    
  - Receipts 4,925,225  2,147,922  921,027   - 
  - Payments (5,120,786) (2,320,481) (930,107)  - 
 Borrowings (706,839) (74,861)   (721,327) (2,390,181)

 2014
 Gross-settled forward foreign exchange contracts    
  - Receipts 4,527,663 2,541,804 2,245,217 -
  - Payments (4,698,470) (2,641,733) (2,292,699) -
 Borrowings (342,159) (51,460) (154,380) (1,894,846)

 Capital Risk
 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain 

an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value.  In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or 
sell assets to reduce borrowings.  The Group’s current strategy remains unchanged from the previous financial year.  The Group 
and the Company are in compliance with externally imposed capital requirements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
Externally imposed capital requirements are mainly debt covenants included in certain loans of the Group and the Company 
requiring the Group or certain subsidiaries of the Company to maintain net gearing to capital employed not exceeding ratios 
ranging from 2.75 to 3.00 times.

 Management monitors capital based on the Group net gearing.  The Group net gearing is calculated as net borrowings divided by 
total capital.  Net borrowings are calculated as bank balances, deposits & cash (Note 17) less total term loans (Note 21). Total 
capital refers to capital employed under equity.

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 Net debt 6,365,828 1,646,542
 Total capital 11,925,859 14,727,641
 Net gearing ratio 0.53x 0.11x

 Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Investment Properties
 The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 

the measurement.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•	 Level	1	-	Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities

•	 Level	2	-	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

•	 Level	3	-	Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(unobservable	inputs).	Fair	value	is	
determined by reference to the net tangible assets of the investments.
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 The following table presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 2015
 Financial assets
 Derivative financial instruments - 125,472 - 125,472
 Investments
 - Available-for-sale investments 11,732 10,544 197,388 219,664
 Short term investments
 - Available-for-sale investments 77,121 47,167 - 124,288
 - Investments held for trading 99,515 - - 99,515

   188,368 183,183 197,388 568,939

 Financial liabilities
 Derivative financial instruments - 780,275 - 780,275

 Non-financial assets
 Investment Properties
 - Commercial, completed - - 1,263,322 1,263,322
 - Commercial, under construction  - - 1,889,790 1,889,790
 - Residential, completed  - 119,000 - 119,000

   - 119,000 3,153,112 3,272,112

 2014
 Financial assets
 Derivative financial instruments - 8,923 - 8,923
 Investments
 - Available-for-sale investments  67,690 11,239 155,340  234,269 
 Short term investments
 - Available-for-sale investments  217,704 42,209 - 259,913 
 - Investments held for trading  110,321 - - 110,321

    395,715 62,371 155,340   613,426 

 Financial liabilities
 Derivative financial instruments - 350,100 - 350,100

 Non-financial assets
 Investment Properties
 - Commercial, completed  - - 911,998 911,998 
 - Commercial, under construction   -     - 952,017 952,017 
 - Residential, completed   - 123,500  - 123,500

   - 123,500 1,864,015 1,987,515
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   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Company
 2015
 Financial assets
 Derivative financial instruments - 120,507 - 120,507

 Financial liabilities
 Derivative financial instruments - 515,746 - 515,746

 2014
 Financial assets
 Derivative financial instruments - 24,829 - 24,829

 Financial liabilities
 Derivative financial instruments - 341,075 - 341,075

 There have been no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for the Group and Company during 2015 and 2014.

 The following table presents the reconciliation of financial instruments measured at fair value based on significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3).

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 At 1 January  155,340 129,433 
 Purchases 34,854 33,094 
 Sales (16,711) (15,946)
 Impairment loss (1,646) -
 Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive income 25,462 8,696 
 Exchange differences 89 63

 At 31 December 197,388 155,340 

 The following table presents the reconciliation of investment properties measured at fair value based on significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3).

 Group

    2015 2014
    $’000 $’000

 At 1 January 1,864,015 2,050,948
 Development expenditure 407,585 34,644
 Fair value gain 141,227 75,962
 Disposal - (454,712)
 Subsidiary disposed (21,592) -
 Reclassification
 - Stocks and work-in-progress 726,567 -
 - Fixed assets 146 127,067
 Exchange differences 35,164 30,106

 At 31 December 3,153,112 1,864,015
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 The fair value of financial instruments categorised under Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy is based on published market bid prices 
at the balance sheet date.

 The fair value of financial instruments categorised under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are fair valued under valuation 
techniques with market observable inputs. These include forward pricing and swap models utilising present value calculations 
using inputs such as observable foreign exchange rates (forward and spot rates), interest rate curves and forward rate curves and 
discount rates that reflects the credit risks of various counterparties. The fair value of available-for-sale investments categorised 
under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are based on the net asset value in the fund managers’ valuation reports at the balance 
sheet date and is derived from prices from an observable market.

 The fair value of residential investment property categorised under Level 2 is based on comparable market transactions that 
consider sales of similar properties that have been transacted in the open market. The most significant input is selling price per 
square feet.

 The following table presents the valuation techniques and key inputs that were used to determine the fair value of financial 
instruments and investment properties categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

 
    Fair value
    as at
    31 December   Range of
    2015 Valuation Unobservable Unobservable
 Description $’000 Techniques Inputs Inputs

 Available-for-sale investments 197,388 Net asset value and/or  Net asset value* Not applicable 
    discounted cash flow

 Investment Properties 
 - Commercial, completed 1,263,322 Direct comparison method,  Discount rate 4.25% to 14.00% 
    investment method, income 
    capitalisation method

     and/or discounted cash flow 
    method

      Occupancy rate 95% to 99%

      Terminal yield 7.25% to 11.00%

      Capitalisation rate 7.00% to 12.50%

      Monthly effective  $21 to $79 
     rental (psm)

  - Commercial, under  1,889,790 Direct comparison method, Price of comparable $8,152 to $12,738 
  construction  residual method, cost land plots (psm)

     replacement method and/or 
     income capitalisation method 

     Gross development  $3,182 
     value ($’million)

      Construction costs $91
      incurred ($’million)

      Capitalisation rate 6.00%

      Occupancy rate 95%

* Fair value of unquoted equity instruments is determined by reference to the underlying assets value of the investee companies, which comprise mainly investment 
properties stated at fair value.
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    Fair value
    as at
    31 December   Range of
    2014 Valuation Unobservable Unobservable
 Description $’000 Techniques Inputs Inputs

 Available-for-sale investments 155,340 Net asset value and/or  Net asset value * Not applicable 
    discounted cash flow

 Investment Properties 
 - Commercial, completed 911,998 Direct comparison method,  Discount rate 4.25% to 14.99% 
    income capitalisation method  
    and/or discounted cash flow 
    method

      Occupancy rate 70% to 98%

      Terminal yield  10.41% to 11.15%

     Capitalisation rate 7.00% to 12.50%

     Monthly effective  $18 to $78 
     rental (psm)

 - Commercial, under  952,017 Direct comparison method Price of comparable $10,075 to $11,289 
  construction  and/or residual method land plots (psm)

      Gross development  $598 to $893 
     value ($’million)

* Fair value of unquoted equity instruments is determined by reference to the underlying assets value of the investee companies, which comprise mainly investment 
properties stated at fair value.

 The financial instruments and investment properties categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are generally sensitive to 
the various unobservable inputs tabled above. A significant movement of each input would result in significant change to the fair 
value of the respective asset/liability.

 The Group’s finance team assessed the fair value of available-for-sale investments on a quarterly basis. 

 Valuation process of investment properties is described in Note 7.

34. Segment analysis
 The Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and has four reportable operating segments as 

follows: 

(i) Offshore & Marine
 Principal activities include offshore rig design, construction, repair and upgrading, ship conversions and repair, and 

specialised shipbuilding. The Division has operations in Brazil, China, Singapore, United States and other countries.

(ii) Property
 Principal activities include property development and investment, and property fund management. The Division has 

operations in Australia, China, India, Indonesia, Singapore, Vietnam and other countries.

(iii) Infrastructure
 Principal activities include environmental engineering, power generation, logistics and data centres. The Division has 

operations in China, Qatar, Singapore, United Kingdom and other countries.

(iv) Investments
 The Investments Division consists mainly of the Group’s investments in KrisEnergy Limited, M1 Limited, k1 Ventures Ltd, and 

equities.
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 Management monitors the results of each of the above operating segments for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on net profit or loss.  Information regarding the 
Group’s reportable segments is presented in the following table:

   Offshore & Marine Property Infrastructure Investments Elimination Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 2015
 Revenue
 External sales 6,240,549 1,926,447 2,058,398 71,079 - 10,296,473
 Inter-segment sales 799 4,624 32,538 64,201 (102,162) -
 Total 6,241,348 1,931,071 2,090,936 135,280 (102,162) 10,296,473

 Segment Results
 Operating profit 596,784 636,481 220,643 45,637 14,086 1,513,631
 Investment income 3,340 10,916 - 710 - 14,966
 Interest income 69,783 29,026 24,509 157,771 (161,769) 119,320
 Interest expenses   (43,425)  (76,608) (25,162) (157,332) 147,683 (154,844)
 Share of results of 
  associated companies 72,013 296,640 36,025 99,643 - 504,321
 Profit before tax 698,495 896,455 256,015 146,429 - 1,997,394 
 Taxation  (181,986)   (183,720)      (33,387) (5,336) - (404,429)
 Profit for the year     516,509 712,735 222,628 141,093 - 1,592,965 

 Attributable to:
 Shareholders of Company 481,470 700,482 207,127       135,543 - 1,524,622
 Non-controlling interests 35,039 12,253 15,501 5,550  - 68,343
   516,509 712,735 222,628 141,093 -     1,592,965
      
 Other information
 Segment assets 10,063,097  16,412,086 3,034,226 6,473,168 (7,061,976) 28,920,601
 Segment liabilities   8,692,893  7,196,762 1,936,768  6,230,295  (7,061,976) 16,994,742
 Net assets   1,370,204 9,215,324 1,097,458 242,873 - 11,925,859
      
 Investment in associated 
  companies 568,116 3,251,468 928,650 773,522 - 5,521,756
 Additions to non-current assets 212,100 895,909 505,869 112,391 - 1,726,269
 Depreciation and amortisation 147,691 33,815 37,324 1,207 - 220,037

 Geographical information

     Far East &
     other ASEAN Other
   Singapore Brazil countries countries Elimination Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 External sales 6,930,287 1,011,602 1,738,304 616,280                -  10,296,473
 Non-current assets 6,028,417 288,560 4,459,665 962,598 -  11,739,240

 Other than Singapore and Brazil, no single country accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 
31 December 2015.

 Information about a major customer
 No single external customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

 Note: Pricing of inter-segment goods and services is at fair market value.
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   Offshore & Marine Property Infrastructure Investments Elimination Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 2014
 Revenue
 External sales 8,556,252  1,729,348  2,933,358  64,021  - 13,282,979
 Inter-segment sales 491  3,619  50,835  69,758  (124,703) -
 Total 8,556,743 1,732,967 2,984,193 133,779 (124,703) 13,282,979

 Segment Results
 Operating profit 1,223,828  667,280  465,727  18,152  (1,567) 2,373,420 
 Investment income 7,472 3,558 - 906 - 11,936
 Interest income 88,812  26,066  960  134,251  (116,985) 133,104 
 Interest expenses (12,257) (60,976) (44,741) (134,602) 118,552  (134,024)
 Share of results of
  associated companies 57,346 381,209 29,348 36,273 - 504,176
 Profit before tax 1,365,201  1,017,137  451,294  54,980  - 2,888,612
 Taxation (272,706) (140,024) (44,530) (5,102) - (462,362)
 Profit for the year 1,092,495  877,113  406,764  49,878  - 2,426,250

 Attributable to:
 Shareholders of Company 1,039,684  481,993  319,990  43,131  - 1,884,798
 Non-controlling interests 52,811 395,120 86,774 6,747 - 541,452
   1,092,495  877,113  406,764  49,878  - 2,426,250

 Other information
 Segment assets 9,626,640 16,376,262 4,263,143 8,954,630 (7,629,769) 31,590,906
 Segment liabilities 7,299,871 7,453,252 3,311,344 6,428,567 (7,629,769) 16,863,265
 Net assets 2,326,769 8,923,010 951,799 2,526,063 - 14,727,641

 Investment in associated 
  companies 539,932 3,205,343 649,565 593,604 - 4,988,444
 Additions to non-current assets 268,402 234,956 489,995 268 - 993,621
 Depreciation and amortisation 141,816 18,601 104,219 500 - 265,136

 Geographical information

     Far East &
     other ASEAN Other
   Singapore Brazil countries countries Elimination Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 External sales 9,292,272  1,841,396  1,478,354  670,957  - 13,282,979
 Non-current assets 5,705,455  325,563  3,196,615  523,073  - 9,750,706

 Other than Singapore, no single country accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 
December 2014.

 Information about a major customer
 No single external customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

 Note: Pricing of inter-segment goods and services is at fair market value.
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35. New accounting standards and interpretations 
 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new/revised FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that 

are relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:

•	 FRS	115	Revenue from Contracts with Customers
•	 FRS	109	Financial Instruments
•	 Improvements	to	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(November	2014)
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	27	Separate Financial Statements: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	16	Property, Plant and Equipment and FRS 38 Intangible Assets: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and Amortisation
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	111	Joint Arrangements : Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	110	Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale 

or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	110	Consolidated Financial Statements, FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, FRS 28 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	1	Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards.

 The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS in future periods will not 
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their initial adoption except 
for the following:

 FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 In November 2014, FRS 115 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 

revenue arising from contracts with customers. FRS 115 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including FRS 18 
Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

 The core principle of FRS 115 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

•	 Step	1:	Identify	the	contract(s)	with	a	customer
•	 Step	2:	Identify	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract
•	 Step	3:	Determine	the	transaction	price
•	 Step	4:	Allocate	the	transaction	price	to	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract
•	 Step	5:	Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	obligation

 Under FRS 115, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or 
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been 
added in FRS 115 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by FRS 115.

 FRS 115 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of 
the changes in the period of initial adoption.

 FRS 109 Financial Instruments
 In December 2014, the Accounting Standards Council issued the final version of FRS 109 Financial Instruments which reflects 

all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The 
standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. FRS 109 is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is 
required, but comparative information is not compulsory in the year of adoption. The adoption of FRS 109 will have an effect on 
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but no impact on the classification and measurement of the 
Group’s financial liabilities. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the changes in the period of initial adoption.

36. Significant subsidiaries and associated companies
 Information relating to significant subsidiaries consolidated in these financial statements and significant associated companies 

whose results are equity accounted for is given in the following pages.




